Running Forward: A qualitative study on diagnosing and redesigning the Zevenheuvelenloop

Master Thesis



Author: Mathijs van Doorn (s4647645)

Supervisor: Dr. M. Moorkamp (Matthijs)

Second Examiner: Dr. S. Schembera (Stefan)

Date: 22-8-2020



Word of gratitude

It is often said that writing a thesis is not a sprint, but a marathon. I fully agree with this statement, as the process of writing a thesis requires persistence and endurance. The finish line of this thesis would not have been reached if it was not for the support of several people, to whom I would like to express my gratitude.

Firstly, a special thank you to Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop and specifically Alexander Vandevelde and Hein van den Hoogen for initiating and enabling this project. Secondly, I would like to thank dr. Matthijs Moorkamp for his thorough and constructive feedback and his kind and patient supervision of the process.

Thirdly, I would like to show my appreciation to those who helped me during the process, whether it was in small or big ways. To this end, I would like to acknowledge Bianca Balvert, Joris van Doorn and Renée Vogels for the time and energy they spent revising this thesis. Additionally, my sincere gratitude goes out to Sabien Beerens and Cindy Balvert for their support, albeit not directly related to the process of this thesis. Lastly, special gratitude to Sebastiaen Gonzalez Fernandez for his hospitality over the course of the past months.

Sincerely,

Mathijs van Doorn

Abstract

Given external pressure and an urge for innovation, Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop has expressed its concerns whether the current organisational structure is adequate to allow for optimal innovation to occur. To this end, a qualitative study was conducted in two stages. Firstly, a diagnosis on the current organisational structure from a sociotechnical perspective and its influence on innovative behaviour was made, based on semi-structured interviews. This diagnosis indicated high values on the two structural parameters of functional concentration and differentiation of operational activities. These high values partly limit the extent to which opportunity exploration and idea realisation by voluntary members outside of their own coordination area occur. Secondly, these structural aspects cause issues with the implementation and realisation of innovations to some extent. Lastly, the limited involvement of voluntary layers in early preparatory activities results in low amounts of radical innovation initiated by these voluntary members. To decrease these structure-related problems, a redesign is proposed based on input from a focus group, during which the sociotechnical theory on redesigning organisations served as a compass. The proposed redesign includes the recommendation to segment certain supportive coordination areas into output-based areas, to involve sub-coordinators and coordinators earlier on in the organisational process and to improve the evaluation process.

Information

Author: Mathijs van Doorn (S4647645)

Address: Weurtseweg 164, 6541 BB Nijmegen

Email: m.vandoorn@fm.ru.nl

University: Radboud University Nijmegen (Nijmegen School of Management)

Study:

Business Administration (Specialisation in Organisational Design & Development)

Supervisor:

Dr. M. Moorkamp

Second examiner:

Dr. S. Schembera

Organisation: Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop

Organisational supervisors:

Hein van den Hoogen & Alexander Vandevelde

Table of contents

1. Introduction	6
1.1 Background	6
1.2 Research objective and research question	10
1.3 Practical and academic relevance	11
1.4 Outline	12
2. Theoretical framework	14
2.1 Innovative behaviour	14
2.2 Organisational structure	17
2.3 Relation between organisational structure and innovative behaviour	22
2.4 Redesign theory	24
3. Methodology	27
3.1 Methodological approach	27
3.2 Diagnosis	28
3.2.1 Research design & selection	29
3.2.2 Data collection & analysis	29
3.3 Redesign methods	31
3.3.1 Research design & selection	31
3.3.2 Data collection & analysis	32
3.4 Quality of research	33
3.5 <i>Ethics</i>	36
4. Analysis of diagnosis	37
4.1 Innovative behaviour	37
4.1.1 Opportunity exploration	38
4.1.2 Idea generation	41
4.1.3 Idea promotion	43
4.1.4 Idea realisation	44
4.1.5 Reflection	45
4.2 Organisational structure	46
4.2.1 Functional concentration	48
4.2.2 Differentiation of operational activities	50
4.2.3 Specialisation of operational activities	52
4.2.4 Division between operational- and control activities	52

4.2.5 Division of regulatory capacity to process parts	54
4.2.6 Division of regulatory capacity to aspects	55
4.2.7 Specialisation of regulatory activities	57
4.3 Relation between organisational structure and innovative behaviour	57
4.4 Additional findings	59
4.5 Diagnostic conclusion	62
5. Redesign	65
5.1 Production structure	66
5.1.1 Production structure: Macro	66
5.1.2 Production structure: Meso & Micro	67
5.2 Control structure	70
5.3 Additional suggestions	71
6. Conclusion, Discussion & Recommendations	73
6.1 Conclusion	73
6.2 Limitations	75
6.2.1 Methodological	76
6.2.2 Theoretical	77
6.2.3 Analytical	78
6.3 Implications & directions for further research	79
6.3.1 Theoretical implications	79
6.3.2 Managerial implications	80
6.3.3 Directions for further research	82
References	83
Appendix A: Interview format	92
Appendix B: Organogram	95
Appendix C: Summary of the focus group	96

1. Introduction

1.1 Background

Over the course of recent years, an increasing societal interest in sports events has occurred. The sports industry is growing and accordingly, the amount of sport-related events that is organised is growing as well (Greenwell, Danzey-Bussel & Shonk, 2014). In Central- and Western Europe, the amount of participants for sports events is expected to grow with 7% annually for the upcoming five years. In the Netherlands, the revenues of sports events increased with 12% in 2018 (Statistica, 2020). Due to the industry growth in recent years, sports events in general have gained increasing academic attention, as researchers have been studying the impact of sports events on tourism (Fourie & Santana-Gallego, 2011), national wellbeing (Kavetsos & Szymanski (2008), and economy (Gratton, Dobson & Shibli, 2000; Késenne, 2005; Mules & Faulkner, 1996; Walo, Bull & Breen, 1996). Not only do scholars find it important to study the societal impact of sports events, researchers also recognise the importance of studying how these sports events can be organised best (Masterman, 2014; Parent & Smith-Swan, 2013). This trend can also be distinguished within one type of sports events: running events. More and more people have started running and attending running events, resulting in an increase of running events in the Netherlands (Mulier Instituut, 2016). RTLNieuws (2019) reports that over 1.300 running events took place in the Netherlands in 2019, varying from monthly recreational runs to entire marathons.

One of the organisations that organises running events is Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop. According to their website, they are an organisation that strives to promote the running sport (NN Zevenheuvelenloop, 2020). They aim to do so by annually organising three independent running events: Zevenheuvelenloop (November), Alfa Laval Stevensloop (March) and Marikenloop (May). The foundation consists of a team of seven permanent employees and four overarching board members. Additionally, as each event has thousands of runners participating, the foundation is highly reliant on volunteers for various organisational activities. For example, approximately 1.500 volunteers are required to perform varying tasks during the NN Zevenheuvelenloop, which is the biggest event of the foundation (NN Zevenheuvelenloop, 2020).

Looking outwards, Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop faces a dynamic external environment. On one hand, the organisation has to deal with an increase of competing running events. At the

same time, Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop sees a decline in 'fixed' participants of their events. This is in line with global trends. Runrepeat (2020) indicates that the motives for participating in running events is moving from being focused on achievements to focus on social and health-related aspects. Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop perceives this shift as the amount of so-called fun-runners in their events is increasing. This group is not bound to certain events or competitive achievements, but flexibly enrolls to various types of running events.

In order to keep up with these developments and to attract and maintain customers, the organisation has to find ways to continuously innovate by improving current activities and creating new events. In addition, the organisation has to be able to adapt to varying demands from important stakeholders, with the municipality being one of the essential stakeholders. To adapt to varying demands, continuous innovation is also required. Meanwhile, recent articles show that several societal instances urge running event organisations to focus on sustainability (The Guardian, 2013; Happy Planet Running; Runner's World 2019). On their website, Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop expresses their concern with the environment and explains that they strive to make their events as sustainable as possible. In this quest, they examine their current events and invest in sustainability (Stichting Zevenheuvenloop, 2020). In 2010, Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop was awarded with a sustainability prize by the European Athletic Association (Omroep Gelderland, 2010). Furthermore, to continuously decrease the environmental impact of their events and to increase sustainability, Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop needs to find ways to continuously innovate their current activities (Leach et al., 2012; Seebode, Jeanrenaud & Bessant, 2012; Truffer & Coenen, 2012). Although the organisation is already implementing several innovations within its events, the management has expressed its concerns whether the current structure is adequate to keep up with the dynamic environment and the required innovations.

Finding ways to allow continuous innovation within the events to occur thus seems essential for Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop. In order to do so, several researches suggest that innovative initiatives from employees are a key element (Fischer & Montalbano, 2014; Nijhof, Krabbendam, & Looise, 2002; Tonnessen, 2005). This conclusion is also found by Van de Ven (1986), who argues that the foundation of innovation is ideas that are developed by people. As Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop heavily relies on the efforts of volunteers in various activities, it can be argued that these volunteers are a major source of innovative potential in this research

case. As volunteers often also work at other organisations, they can serve as a boundary spanner as they introduce ideas and practices of other organisations to the organisation they work at (Newell & Swan, 1995). This way, volunteers can provide a big impact in the innovation process of organisations (Goldman & Kahnweller, 2000).

Oldham and Cummings (1996) found that innovative behaviour severely impacts the performance and competitiveness of organisations. De Jong and Den Hartog (2007) define innovative behaviour as "behaviour directed towards the initiation and application (within a work role, group or organisation) of new and useful ideas, processes, products or procedures" (p. 43). This follows the ideas of Farr and Ford (1990), who argue that innovative behaviour captures both the initiation and implementation of ideas. This definition of innovative behaviour will be used in this thesis, as it captures the two phases of innovation. For innovation to be successful, Burgelman and Maidique (1988) explain that an adequate business structure is required. Maira and Thomas (1998) add that innovative behaviour can be stimulated by breaking down organisational barriers that separate functions and product groups. This relation between organisational structure and opportunities for innovative behaviour to occur was also found in the research of Ashkenas (1998). In their paper, Lawson and Samson (2001) explain that "the more permeable and organic the [organisational] structure, the greater the potential for innovative ideas to spring" (p. 393). For innovative behaviour to occur, it seems that an adequate organisational structure is required.

It can thus be assumed that organisational structure has a certain influence on innovative behaviour. Achterbergh and Vriens (2010; 2019) define organisational structure as the way tasks are defined, related, and divided within an organisation. To address the relationship between organisational structure and innovative behaviour, an in-depth study using an organisation design perspective is required. Burton, Erikson, and Håkonsson (2008) explain that organisations can use insights and techniques of this organisation design perspective to assess whether the organisational structure is adequate to reach organisational goals. In this case, the design perspective could be used to focus on innovative behaviour. Within design literature, the sociotechnical theory as developed by De Sitter (2000) provides an explicit and systematic set of principles to diagnosing organisational structures and regards what structures ideally would look like. Additionally, the sociotechnical theory entails a structured step-by-step approach to redesigning organisations (Achterbergh & Vriens, 2010). This theory is useful to

assess organisational structures as it seems a systematic and well-developed theory in comparison to other organisation design theories. In his book on sociotechnical design, De Sitter (2000) explains that an organisational structure influences the ability of the organisation to innovate.

The researches that regard the relation between organisational structure and innovation, as introduced above, focus primarily on classic, permanent organisational forms. Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop differs from these organisations as they organise three annual events. The organisation of events differs from organisations with more standardised products or services. Modig (2007) made a continuum on temporary and stationary organisation. The characteristics of Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop - organising events and using volunteers instead of long-term employees - seem to fit the temporary organisation side of the continuum in some ways. As Miterev, Mancini, and Turner (2017) argue, insights regarding the organisational structure characteristics of these temporary organisational forms seem underdeveloped. The design concepts as for example derived from sociotechnical insights thus require adaptation and application to this degree of temporary context. As Miterev, Mancini and Turner (2017) argue, the organisation design perspective could be a valuable contribution as it provides a new perspective on event management.

This thesis thus focuses on the relation between organisational structure and innovative behaviour within Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop. As mentioned before, the foundation organises three annual events. These events have a similar process and similar clusters of activities. This research will mainly focus on the structure of the Zevenheuvelenloop. Although this research specifically focuses on only one of the three annual events organised by the foundation, the similarity between the three events with regards to the process of organising allows for the results of this research to be transferable to the other events to some extent.

To adequately research the relation between organisational structure and innovative behaviour and to research how innovative behaviour can be improved, a clear research outline is required. When aiming to improve, some degree of change is necessary. As a relationship between organisational structure and innovative behaviour is assumed, changes in the organisational structure could allow for better innovative behaviour in the Zevenheuvelenloop. The research

9

outline should thus comprise of both an assessment of the current relationship between organisational structure and innovative behaviour, as well as a proposal on changes in the organisational structure that could allow for improved innovative behaviour. The 3-D model of Achterbergh and Vriens (2019) on interventions in organisations serves as an useful research outline, as the use of the model in its entirety allows for a well-designed structure, based on a diagnosis, to be designed, implemented, and evaluated. For this research, diagnosing the current state of organisational structure and its influence on innovative behaviour as well as designing a structure that allows diagnosed issues to be attenuated or solved are the two central phases of the 3-D model.

1.2 Research objective and research question

The goal of this research is to conduct a diagnosis and make a redesign of the organisational structure of the Zevenheuvelenloop to improve innovative behaviour, based on insights derived from sociotechnical theories. Firstly, the current processes are mapped and relevant literature regarding innovative behaviour and organisational structure is discussed. The insights obtained conducting this diagnosis will be the input of the redesign. Combining and applying the diagnosis with sociotechnical theories on redesigning organisations results in a redesign of the Zevenheuvelenloop. This twofold goal is captured in the following research question:

What is the relation between organisational structure and innovative behaviour within the Zevenheuvelenloop, and how can the structure be redesigned to improve innovative behaviour?

To properly answer this research question, the following sub-questions are formulated:

- 1. What does the current innovative behaviour within the Zevenheuvelenloop look like?
- 2. What is the relationship between organisational structure and innovative behaviour within the Zevenheuvelenloop?
- 3. How can the organisational structure of the Zevenheuvelenloop be redesigned to increase innovative behaviour?

1.3 Practical and academic relevance

The existing literature on innovative behaviour, in particular the model derived from Messmann and Mulder (2012) that will be introduced in the next chapter, is solely focused on employees in organisations. When comparing employees to volunteers in organisations, distinct characteristics can be found due to the voluntary nature of volunteers. This nature distinguishes volunteers and employees regarding, among others things, motivation, loyalty, commitment, and expectation of potential rewards and sanctions (Cnaan & Cascio, 1998). Although several academic researchers address financial benefits as well as organisational disadvantages of volunteers (Gratton, Shibli & Taylor, 1996; Karn, 1982; 1983), the impact of the voluntary characteristics on other organisational aspects is perceived as underexposed in literature (Hoeber & Hoeber, 2012). As was previously argued, there is an increase in the amount of sports events. Many of these events rely heavily on volunteers. Additionally, there is an urge for event organisations to innovate continuously. To allow for organisations to effectively benefit from volunteers and deploy this asset to allow for better organisational innovation, a more in-depth understanding of innovative behaviour of volunteers is required. As the organisation of events gains increasing academic attention, the characteristics of volunteers and their role in organisations require a similar degree of academic attention as deploying volunteers effectively can allow for increased organisational performance. This thesis strives to contribute to closing this academic gap by studying innovative behaviour of volunteers in an event organisation and the impact of organisational structure on innovative behaviour.

In their work, Achterbergh and Vriens (2010;2019) explain that the sociotechnical perspective on designing organisations differs from other design literature, in the sense that it takes an integral view of the organisation. In addition, the sociotechnical theory suggests that organisations are dynamic entities and consist of interactions and interaction premises among the organisational members. This research is academically relevant as it gives insights into the way sociotechnical insights can be put to practice. Additionally, Kuipers, Van Amelsvoort and Kramer (2018) mention that the sociotechnical theories are usually applicable to classic, functional organisational forms. As mentioned before, the sociotechnical theory and organisations. This research applies the sociotechnical theory on an organisation on the more temporary side of the continuum as developed by Modig (2007). Miterev, Mancini and Turner (2017) explain that more research on organisation design within these temporary organisations is required to improve the way these organisations perform. Regarding event venues, Hassanien and Dale (2012) argue that the generally well-developed literature on product innovation is under-researched with regards to its application to these types of organisations. This research contributes academically as it explores innovative behaviour in an event-based organisation and regards the influence of organisational structure on this innovation. Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop also differs from general organisations as it is largely dependent on volunteers and has a small number of employees. This thesis thus extends the understanding on how sociotechnical insights can be put to practice, as it is the first research to apply the sociotechnical theories to volunteers in an organisation.

On a practical level, this research contributes in several ways. Firstly, Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop can use the outcomes of the diagnosis to get a better understanding of their current structure and the structure-based problems that occur, specifically with regards to its influence on the innovative behaviour of their volunteers. This understanding can help the foundation to continuously search for improvements in the way they interact with- and involve their volunteers, for now and in the future. Additionally, Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop can use the redesign as proposed in this research to improve the previously mentioned innovative behaviour of their volunteers. Although this research specifically focuses on only one of the three annual events organised by the foundation, the similarity between the three events with regards to its process of organising allows for the results of this research to be transferable to the other events to a certain extent.

1.4 Outline

To provide a clear understanding of the design of this research, figure 1 is included below as an overview of how this research is structured, based on the design of research as proposed by Verschuren and Doorewaard (2015). The first phase regards the diagnosis, the second phase regards the redesign.



Figure 1: Research design

To answer the research question, firstly the main concepts will further be introduced and relevant theories regarding these concepts will be discussed in the next chapter, starting with innovative behaviour in organisations. Afterwards, the sociotechnical theory on organisational structures will be elaborated on and applied to the more temporary form of organisation. Once these two central concepts are discussed, a further literature-based elaboration on their relation is proposed. In addition, further elaboration on the sociotechnical theory regarding redesigning organisation will be provided. The third chapter will further specify the research strategy, providing detailed information on the research design, chosen methods of research and data collection, methodological choices and their impact on the validity and reliability of the research. This includes the operationalisation of the concepts, measuring instruments, and data analysis strategy. Additionally, research ethics will be discussed. As this research consists of two phases, chapter 3 will discusses methodology of both phases. Chapter 4 then discusses the outcomes of the diagnosis which, as introduced previously, is phase 1 of the research. Chapter 5 builds on these outcomes as it elaborates on the redesign, which is phase 2. Ultimately, chapter 6 will provide the reader with a conclusion, discussion of limitations, and theoretical and managerial implications.

2. Theoretical framework

As previously explained, this chapter will further deepen the theoretical framework around the central concepts of the thesis. Firstly, relevant literature with regards to innovative behaviour of volunteers will be elaborated on. Secondly, insights on organisational structure are discussed with regards to diagnosing the current organisational structure. Then, the relation between the two will be further discussed, and the conceptual model will be presented. Lastly in this chapter, theory on redesigning organisational structures will be discussed, as this is required for the redesign phase of the research.

2.1 Innovative behaviour

As Katz (1964) suggests, organisations should think beyond standardised procedures in order to have employees performing effective work behaviour. Especially regarding innovation in organisations. For innovation in organisations to occur, several researches suggest that employees on an individual level play an essential role (Fischer & Montalbano, 2014; Nijhof, Krabbendam, & Looise, 2002; Tonnessen, 2005). Amabile (1988) suggests innovative initiatives of employees lead to organisational effectiveness. Within literature, innovation and innovative behaviour are often linked to creativity (Amabile, 1988; Mumford & Gustafson, 1988; Wang & Tsaj, 2014). As Anderson, Potočnik, and Zhou (2014) explain, the essential difference between the two is that creativity regards the generation of ideas, while innovation also focuses on implementation of ideas. Creativity is thus often regarded to be the first step in an innovation process. West and Farr (1990) explain that the generation of ideas and their implementation into practice within organisations can either occur by employees or people outside of the organisation. They state that employees are engaged in innovation if they intentionally introduce and apply a new idea. Yuan and Woodman (2010) state that the term innovative behaviour refers to the process of idea implementation occurring on an individual level. It thus regards the behaviour of one employee. As proposed in the introduction, this thesis follows the definition for innovative behaviour developed by De Jong and Den Hartog (2007), as derived from Farr and Ford (1990). This definition states that innovative behaviour is "behaviour directed towards the initiation and application (within a work role, group or organisation) of new and useful ideas, processes, products or procedures" (p. 43). This

definition grasps the notion of the two phases as introduced above, which are the initiation and application of new ideas.

Studying and combining existing literature on the subject, De Jong and Den Hartog (2008) distinguished four dimensions of innovative behaviour (or innovative work behaviour, as they refer to it), which are opportunity exploration, idea generation, championing, and application. These four dimensions are also found by Messmann and Mulder (2012), who refer to championing as idea promotion and application as idea realisation. Additionally, they argue that reflection is required as a fifth dimension. These five dimensions are discussed below.

Opportunity exploration is of importance for innovative behaviour, as research found that in order to create something new, new opportunities first are identified (Amabile, 1988). As Leonard and Swap (2005) mention in their work, the process of identifying and 'finding' new opportunities is not based on luck, but shows that some employees perform exploration behaviour regarding opportunities. Farr and Ford (1990) explain that opportunity exploration is about looking out and trying to find ways to improve current activities or trying to think about ongoing work processes and outputs in new ways. Messmann and Mulder (2012) also state that exploration requires that a person is attentive to his work environment and has an understanding of current trends and developments.

Once opportunities or gaps are identified, it is required that employees have the ability to think of new ways to approach the need that is identified (Kanter, 1988). As Amabile (1988) explains, generating ideas can relate to various outcomes, including products, services, processes, entering new markets or improving processes. Idea generating often involves finding a new way of arranging existing pieces of knowledge into a new combination (De Jong & Den Hartog, 2008). Messmann and Mulder (2012) refer to idea generation as a process that "includes publicly addressing substantial work-related problems, critically examining predominant beliefs, as well as expressing and discussing ideas for necessary changes regarding these problems." (p. 46).

Idea promotion – or championing - is the third dimension of innovative behaviour, which involves issue selling. For others to accept the new idea and to overcome resistance, Shane (1994) explains that the employee has to build coalitions and push the idea beyond barriers in the organisation. The process of promotion includes skills such as persuasion and negotiation 15

to ensure acceptance of the new idea (Van de Ven, 1986). For innovative behaviour to occur in the organisation, the person with the innovative idea has to win support of colleagues and supervisors and spread the idea across relevant parts of the organisation (Messmann & Mulder, 2012).

Fourthly, the idea has to be put to practice to truly count as innovation. Idea realisation involves transforming the idea to make it practically applicable. To do so, a detailed planning of the implementation, including examined outcomes and possible side-effects, has to be made (Messmann & Mulder, 2012). For this implementation to succeed, employees often have to perform behaviour including development, testing, and modification to ensure that the idea is incorporated in the organisation (Van de Ven, 1986).

Lastly, reflection is required to assess the progress of the innovation and to evaluate its success based on set criteria (Messmann & Mulder, 2012).

The theories on innovative behaviour as mentioned previously are all focusing on employees. As Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop relies largely on the work of volunteers, the innovative behaviour of volunteers is crucial in this research. Although Hoeber and Hoeber (2012) stress that the role of volunteers in the innovation process has been researched too little, several researchers found that volunteers are drivers of organisational innovation as they introduce experience and knowledge obtained via activities at other organisations to the organisation they volunteer at (Goldman & Kahnweller, 2000; Newell & Swan, 1995; Widmar, 1993). Given this impact of volunteers on the innovation process of organisations, it can be argued that the theory on innovative behaviour to a certain extent also applies to volunteers. As volunteers in this case are involved in varying degrees of organisational activities, they can be expected to have a degree of organisational involvement. This sense of involvement is of importance for innovative behaviour to occur (Van de Ven, 1986). For example, involvement allows for volunteers to be attentive for their work and be open for opportunity exploration. On the other hand, as the involvement of volunteers with the organisation can be limited, the degree to which they are willing to actively perform innovative behaviour might be limited accordingly. It is expected that within Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop, some volunteers are more involved in the organisation and their role in it than others.

2.2 Organisational structure

Organisation usually are created in order to achieve certain goals. To achieve these organisational goals, interactions between individuals and groups are required to divide tasks and responsibilities within the organisation (Lorsch, 1987). The way these tasks are defined, related, and divided is called the organisational structure (Achterbergh & Vriens, 2019). Pugh (1990) states that the structure entails how the division of tasks, coordination, and responsibilities within an organisation can be used to achieve organisational goals. Nelson and Quick (2011) note that the structure gives the organisations the form to fulfil the function it has within the environment. In his work, Galbraith (1987) uses the concept of organisational structure to refer to the way individuals and groups are configured with regards to tasks, responsibilities and authorities.

As mentioned in the introduction, this research will use sociotechnical theory as a framework to measure organisational structure. However, the sociotechnical theory as developed by De Sitter (2000) is mainly applicable to standardised, hierarchical organisations. As previously introduced, Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop differs from this in the sense that their output does not consist of products or services, but events. Miterev, Mancini, and Turner (2017) argue that there is a gap in current literature regarding the use of an organisation design perspective on event management. From an organisation design perspective, the process of organising events has some similarities with the production process of products or services. To better understand these similarities, first the sociotechnical perspective on organisational design is further elaborated on.

De Sitter (2000) defines sociotechnical theory as an applied theory that relates to the integral (re)design of production processes in organisations. The reason for choosing the sociotechnical theory to measure organisational structure is that sociotechnical theory provides a clear and detailed approach on diagnosing and redesigning organisational structures. Additionally, Achterbergh and Vriens (2019) argue that this theory focuses both on technical as well as social aspects of structure and takes an integral view on organisations.

De Sitter (2000), as one of the founders of the modern sociotechnical theory, has developed theory regarding the way organisational structures should be designed. In his theory, he developed seven design parameters regarding the division of work. The values of the parameters

indicate how well employees in an organisation are able to respond to disturbances that they encounter in their work. Low values indicate that employees have a lot of potential to deal with problems and disturbances themselves. These parameters will be further introduced in upcoming paragraphs. This theory applies not necessarily to the level of an individual employee, but regards the work-related activities that are performed by one unit within the organisation. This could be an individual, a team, or even an entire business unit. To avoid confusion, this will be referred to as workplace, of which the size is dependent on what work activities are included in the workplace. A distinction is made between operational- and regulatory activities. Operational activities relate to the activities that are required to produce a product or deliver a service, it is the basic transformation process within the organisation. Regulatory activities are required to ensure that the operational activities can be performed unhindered. Regulation is thus largely about dealing with problems that occur in the operational process. Operational activities are captured in the production structure of organisations, while regulatory activities are captured in the control structure (De Sitter, 2000).

In their book, that builds on the work of De Sitter (2000), Achterbergh and Vriens (2010) explain that having low parameter values in an organisation means that there is little structural complexity. In this case, workplaces have a lot of potential to perform operational activities and their required regulations themselves, without needing to interact with other workplaces. As there is little interaction between workplaces required, the structure has little complexity. As parameter values increase, workplaces have less autonomy and regulatory power over their operational activities, and they are more dependent on other workplaces. Thus, more interactions between workplaces occur, increasing the interaction network and increasing the chance that errors occur due to these interactions. So, if a workplace has a big interaction network, a lot of coordination is required. This slows down the rate in which operational activities are performed. In his work, De Sitter (2000) pleas for organisations to strive to lower the parameter values as much as possible. His research shows that having low structural complexity and high regulatory capacity at local workplaces also forms a support base at which challenging and meaningful jobs can exist, in which employees are able to deal with workrelated stress and are encouraged to be involved, to learn and to develop themselves (Achterbergh & Vriens, 2010). De Sitter (2000) explains in his work that the organisational structure influences three categories of functional requirements of organisations:

- Quality of organisation: this is defined as the potential of an organisation to effectively and efficiently achieve organisational goals and the ability of the organisation to adapt these goals. Quality of organisations is divided into flexibility, control over order realisation, and potential for innovation.
- Quality of work: this functional requirement regards to what extent jobs in an organisation are meaningful and employees can deal with work-related stress. This functional requirement is divided into a level of absenteeism and a level of personnel turnover.
- Quality of working relations: regards the effectiveness of communication. Quality of working relations is divided into the degree of shared responsibility and participation in work consultation.

In this research, mainly the quality of organisation is of importance, as it regards the potential for innovation within the organisation. However, quality of work also is important as innovative behaviour, as distinguished in this thesis, is a character trait that is partly based on the degree to which an individual is intrinsically motivated (De Jong & Den Hartog, 2008). To capture characteristics of organisational structures and relate them to the abovementioned functional requirements, De Sitter (2000) developed seven design parameters. These parameters are divided into three groups. Firstly, the production structure. This is defined as the network of activities in which the product is made or the service is delivered. This process is crucial to reach organisational goals and is the central reason for existence of organisations. In this case, these are the activities required to organise and perform the three annual running events. Secondly, the control structure. This structure is defined as the allocation and coupling of control functions. The way the control structure is organised influences the ability of the organisation to deal with disturbances in the primary process (Achterbergh & Vriens, 2010;2019). The third type of parameter is the division between the production- and control activities. Below, the seven parameters will be further introduced.

Production structure parameters

The first parameter is the degree of functional concentration. According to De Sitter (2000), functional concentration regards the way operational tasks are grouped with respect to orders. The functional concentration thus is about the way operational tasks are divided among workplaces. A high degree of functional concentration means that all operational tasks of the 19

same type are concentrated into specialised workplaces. In this case, one workplace performs one very specific type of activity for all different orders. In event management, this would be the case if one workplace is for example occupied with delivering electricity for all parts of the events. In an organisation with a high degree of functional concentration, workplaces are highly dependent on the work of other workplaces and a lot of interaction and coordination between workplaces is required. A low parameter value of functional concentration means that one workplace is responsible for all operational activities for one type of order. This would be the case in event management if one workplace performs all required activities for one of the subevents.

The second parameter regards the differentiation of operational activities. Operational tasks can be divided into three types, being executive-, preparatory-, and supporting activities. A high value on this parameter suggests that one workplace is solely responsible for one of the three types of activities. For example, a workplace is responsible for the planning of the activities of another workplace. In an organisation with a high degree of differentiation of operational activities, a lot of interaction and coordination between workplaces is required, as workplaces can only manage a small part of activities. A low value on this parameter indicates that workplaces are responsible for all three types of operational activities themselves. For example, a workplace is able to make their own planning and preparations.

The third parameter in this category is the degree of specialisation of operational activities. This parameter regards the degree to which operational activities are divided into a series of sub-activities. Comparable to functional concentration, this parameter is about the extent to which the process of organising the event is separated into chronological parts. For example, in event management a high degree of specialisation of operational activities would occur if one workplace is responsible for the preparatory phase of all three events. Based on this preparation, another workplace would continue with the middle phase of the process, and a third workplace would then be responsible for the final activities before the event takes place. Put in other words, a high degree on this parameter means the output of one workplace is the input of another workplace.

Division between the production- and control activities

The fourth parameter regards the division between production- and control activities. This parameter thus assesses whether a workplace that is performing operational activities can also perform control activities to deal with disturbances in the operational activities by itself. A high degree would indicate that certain workplaces are responsible for dealing with disturbances encountered by another workplace. In an organisation with a low degree of division between operational- and control activities, workplaces can regulate themselves (De Sitter, 2000).

Control structure parameters

With regards to the control structure, three parameters are distinguished by De Sitter (2000). The first is the division of regulatory capacity to process parts. De Sitter (2000) explains that regulatory capacity can be decomposed into monitoring, assessing, and acting. Monitoring regards measuring values of essential variables of the organisation. These are the variables that measure whether organisational goals are being achieved. Assessing is the act of comparing the values of the essential variables to the norm value that the organisation has set for these variables. Acting is about taking action to decrease the gap between the actual value and norm value of the essential variables. The parameter of division of regulatory capacity to process parts thus regards whether these three control activities are divided or concentrated in workplaces.

A second parameter regards the division of regulatory capacity to aspects. In his research, De Sitter (2000) distinguishes three levels in which regulatory capacity occurs. Firstly, regulation of operational activities. This means dealing with disturbances in the production process. These usually are disturbances on a day-to-day, routine basis. The second is design regulation, which deals with changing the design of the production process to attenuate the chance of disturbances occurring or amplifying regulatory capacity. Thirdly, De Sitter (2000) mentions strategic regulation, in which the goals of the organisation can be changed to better deal with disturbances. The parameter on division of regulatory capacity to aspects focuses on the degree to which a workplace is able to regulate on all three levels of regulation. A high degree of division to aspects means that workplaces can regulate on only one of the three levels.

The last parameter regards the degree of specialisation of regulatory activities. This parameter is comparable to the third parameter, but instead of production structure it focuses on the

regulatory structure. A high parameter value means regulating activities are specialised into certain topics. For example, a workplace would only be responsible for making decisions with regards to recruitment, while another workplace deals with marketing (De Sitter, 2000).

Applying this theory to Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop, similarities between the organisation of events and production- and control activities as distinguished by the sociotechnical design perspective can be addressed. The design perspective focuses on the way tasks are divided within an organisation and argues that workplaces on a local level should have to deal with as little structural complexity as possible, while having as much autonomy as possible to deal with disturbances. These conceptions are applicable to Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop and its activities. Additionally, as Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop has three events that reoccur annually, they strive to use the evaluation of previous events to improve upcoming events. This recurrence gives the events of Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop a more stationary character. The organisation can use roughly the same process steps per event and has opportunities to learn from their previous experiences.

2.3 Relation between organisational structure and innovative behaviour

As the concepts of innovative behaviour and organisational structure and their relevant literature are introduced, a general sense of direction on the relation between the two central concepts can be discussed. As briefly mentioned, De Sitter (2000) argues that organisational structure influences innovation in organisations. In his work, he explains that the parameters indicate how adequate the structure of an organisation is. He argues that an organisation should aim to have the lowest parameter values as possible, as this increases autonomy and regulatory capacity for individual workplaces. This way, employees are enabled to deal directly with problems that occur, as complexity is low within the organisations and employees have more responsibilities. De Sitter (2000) argues that this way, employees have more room to focus on innovation, as they need less time to deal with occurring disturbances. This notion of local autonomy is also supported by the findings of Amabile (1988) and De Jong and Den Hartog (2008), who argue that the allowance of employees to influence organisational decision-making and have autonomy over their own work results in stimulated intrinsic motivation, which contributes to innovative behaviour. As mentioned in the introduction, a link between innovation in organisational attructure was also found by several other

academics (Ashkenas, 1998; Burgelman & Maidique, 1988; Lawson & Samson, 2001; Maira & Thomas, 1998). In addition to the importance of autonomy, researchers also found that structures should aim at breaking down organisational barriers and be more permeable (Lawson & Samson, 2001; Maira & Thomas, 1998). This is in line with the ideas of De Sitter (2000) that organisations should strive to lower functional concentration, differentiation, and specialisation. Having an adequate organisational structure thus seems highly important for innovative behaviour to occur.

The relations as found by these researches are primarily based on employees in organisations. However, in this research, volunteers and their innovative behaviour in the organisations are the object of research. As Cnaan and Cascio (1998) found in their research, volunteers and employees tend to have different characteristics with regards to motivation, loyalty, organisational commitment, and potential rewards or sanctions. However, similarities between the two groups are also found as both employees and volunteers can play a major role in organisational innovations. Both groups are valuable for organisational innovation as they introduce new ideas, improve processes, and ask critical questions (Birkinshaw & Duke, 2013; Cerinsek & Dolinsek, 2009; Goldman & Kahnweller, 2000; Hoeber & Hoeber, 2012; Newell & Swan, 1995; Widmar, 1993). Within the Zevenheuvelenloop, many of the volunteers are involved in the organisation for several years. This sense of continuity and long-term involvement is similar to employees, who often are also long-term involved in the organisation they work for. Given these similarities, it can be assumed that some similarities between volunteers and employees with regards to innovative behaviour exist. Additionally, it can be assumed that some similarities between these groups with regards to the relationship between organisational structure and innovative behaviour can be found. However, given the lack of academic research on this topic, the extent of these similarities is not evident.

An overview of the relationship between organisational structure and innovative behaviour including the dimensions of both concepts is provided in the conceptual model as provided in figure 2.



Figure 2: Conceptual model

2.4 Redesign theory

As theories on diagnosing the current organisational structure using a sociotechnical approach have been discussed, the second phase of the research will now be discussed. In line with the diagnosis, in this research, sociotechnical ideas are used as a guideline for redesigning the organisation.

In recent history, redesigning and organisational change have gained increasing attention in academic literature. As Achterbergh and Vriens (2019) suggest, change in organisations can be difficult to achieve. They argue it requires a well thought-out plan and due to the fact that organisations consist of interactions and interaction premises, achieving change requires an integral understanding of all aspects of the organisation. Additionally, they argue that in organisations, change will always encounter resistance of organisational members. Therefore, they advocate that organisational members should participate in the change process, to increase understanding and decrease organisational resistance. As explained in the previous sections, De Sitter (2000) claims that structure should be designed in such a way that parameter values are as low as possible, given the organisational context. In practice, organisational and contextual factors often inhibit organisations to have absolute minimum values and certain concessions with respect to this have to be made.

De Sitter, Den Hertog and Dankbaar (1997) suggest a good design improves both efficiency and effectiveness. To do so, they distinguish six steps in a particular order in redesigning organisations. The first three steps are focused on redesigning the production structure, as this structure is the reason for the organisation to exist in the first place. In addition, starting with designing production structure allows for reduction of variation and interaction between workplaces. The design of the production structure is done in three steps as it starts at macro level, then meso level and lastly micro level. This way, a lot of complexity can be avoided from the start. Once the production structure is designed, the control structure can be designed to deal with the remaining complexity and disturbances. As the sociotechnical theory suggests that local workplaces should have as much regulatory capacity as possible, the steps to design the regulatory structure starts at micro level. As in practice not all control activities can be placed on the level of local workplaces, remaining control activities will then be designed on meso level and ultimately, on macro level (Kuipers, Van Amelsvoort & Kramer, 2018).

Production structure:

As previously mentioned, the sociotechnical theory argues that reduction of complexity is the point of departure in designing an organisational structure. Kuipers, Van Amelsvoort and Kramer (2018) explain that one important way of achieving structure simplification is to parallelise varying order flows into more homogeneous sub-flows. Each sub-flow can then be assigned to a relatively independent organisational unit. If possible, each order type should have its own separate sub-flow. To prevent an increase in parameter value on the differentiation of operational activities, all operational activities should be placed within the sub-flows. This entails that one sub-flow contains the executive-, preparatory-, and supporting activities needed within that order type.

Within the sub-flows on macro level, often it is required to create clusters of activities on meso level that are manageable. This process is called segmentation and entails the allocation of tasks to groups within the sub-flow. Cutting the sub-flow into segments is required if the sub-flow is too complex to be assigned to one workplace. If possible, segmentation should be avoided as it increases the amount of interactions and thus complexity between workplaces. However, in practice it often cannot be avoided. If segmentation is required it should result in groups of tasks that are clustered in a logical way. This could for example be done by allocating tasks into modules, or sub-components of products. A visualisation of parallelisation and segmentation is provided in figure 3. Lastly, the way teams are allocated tasks on a local level has to be designed. This happens on the micro level. From a sociotechnical perspective, one should strive to allocate as much regulatory capacity on this micro level (Kuipers, Van Amelsvoort, Kramer, 2018).



Figure 3: Visualisation of parallelisation and segmentation as derived from De Sitter, Den Hartog, & Dankbaar (1997, p. 511).

Control structure:

As previously discussed, in opposition to the design of the production structure, the control structure should be designed starting on a micro level. By designing the production structure following the previous steps and with a focus on decreasing structural complexity, a lot of need for regulatory potential can be prevented in advance. Starting the allocation of regulatory capacity on micro level, as much regulatory capacity can be allocated to local teams and a lot of structural complexity can be avoided. On this level, one should assess how much regulatory capacity regarding operational-, design-, and strategic activities can be allocated. On meso level, the same question will be assessed but this time regarding segments on meso level. Lastly, the remaining regulatory capacity should be allocated on a macro level, regarding regulatory subjects on the level of the whole organisation (Kuipers, Van Amelsvoort, Kramer, 2018).

3. Methodology

This chapter will further explain the research methodology on how the required data is collected and analysed to conduct this research. As introduced before, the research consists of two phases. These phases are diagnosis and design, as distinguished by Achterbergh and Vriens (2019) regarding the functional dimension of their 3-D model of interventions. The chapter starts with clarifying the methodological approach, which is taken for both phases. The part that follows which focuses on research design and data collection is divided in two sections, as these methods differ for the diagnosis and design phase. After that, the consequences of the methodological choices made are elaborated on, regarding the quality of the research. Lastly, insights on research ethics and the role of the researcher in this thesis are discussed.

3.1 Methodological approach

In order to properly answer the research question, firstly a diagnosis is conducted. As Doorewaard and Kil (2015) explain, a diagnosis in research is used to find out what problems there are or what can be improved. Additionally, diagnosis is used to disclose the causes of these suboptimal situations. To get a clear insight on this, in-depth understanding of the situation is required. As Doorewaard and Kil (2015) explain, a qualitative research approach can be used best to attain this insight. Sofaer (1999) explains that qualitative research methods are "valuable in providing rich descriptions of complex phenomena; ... illuminating the experience and interpretation of events by actors with widely differing stakes and roles..." (p. 1101). Bleijenbergh (2015) explains that qualitative research is used to collect and interpret linguistic material to make statements regarding an occurring phenomenon in reality. Cresswell (1994) mentions that the usage of qualitative methods allows the researcher to get highly detailed insights due to involvement in the actual experience. In this case, for the diagnosis, the aim is to acquire an in-depth understanding of innovative behaviour of volunteers and the relation between innovative behaviour and organisational structure within the Zevenheuvelenloop. To do so, the experiences and interpretations of organisational members regarding these central concepts should be collected. Using a qualitative approach, the researcher is allowed to collect and analyse this material and thus, a qualitative approach suits this research. Due to the rich nature of data collected using qualitative research, the researcher is allowed to potentially have findings that extend the initial operationalisation, yet are relevant

to the case. These additional findings could enable the researcher to gain even better understanding of the phenomenon in its context. For the second research phase, the redesign, a qualitative research approach also seems fitting. As Achterbergh and Vriens (2019) argue, redesigning an organisation requires input of organisational members. The use of a qualitative research approach allows the researcher to collect rich material on the experiences and insights of organisational actors (Sofaer, 1999). This rich input of organisational members can thus be used to propose a redesign that fits the organisation.

Within this qualitative research strategy, a deductive research approach is chosen. Bleijenbergh (2015) explains that in deductive research, a research object is approached using a well-defined theoretical framework. Based on the theoretical framework, certain empirical material is analysed. As Doorewaard and Kil (2015) mention in their work, the deductive approach enables the researcher to clearly define dimensions and aspects of the concepts that are central to the research. This operationalisation allows the researcher to effectively gain insight in the complex phenomenon, as the researcher understands different aspects of the concepts in advance of collecting data. This research approach fits both phases of this research. To assess the current innovative behaviour and structure in the diagnosis phase, existing literature on both concepts and their relation provides the researcher with a clear approach on how to collect and analyse data on both concepts and their relation. Although it was previously argued that both theory on innovative behaviour and organisational structure have not yet been applied to volunteers, a deductive approach based on these theories is still applicable as the theories still provide a solid framework for measuring both concepts in this case. Regarding the redesign phase, the outputs of the diagnosis phase can be combined with a clear theoretical framework on redesigning organisations to provide a way to guide and structure the redesign. Thus, the deductive research approach allows the researcher to research the phenomenon while guided by a theoretical framework. This way all aspects of the central concepts and their relation can be studied.

3.2 Diagnosis

In the diagnostic phase of this research, the current degree of innovative behaviour and organisational structure are mapped. Innovative behaviour will be measured using the model as developed by Messmann and Mulder (2012). As a sociotechnical perspective on organisational

design is taken, the organisational structure is measured using the parameters as distinguished by De Sitter (2000).

3.2.1 Research design & selection

According to Verschuren, Doorewaard and Mellion (2010), diagnosis is used to study the origin and background of occurring problems. As Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop expressed the wish to be more able to innovate their events and activities, in this research it is chosen to focus on innovative behaviour of their volunteers. As explained in chapter 2, this research uses the scale for innovative behaviour as derived from Messmann and Mulder (2012). As will be discussed in the next section, innovative behaviour will be measured using semi-structured interviews. The items to measure innovative behaviour as developed by Messmann and Mulder (2012) are partially survey-based questions. Rewriting these into open questions is required, as Bleijenbergh (2015) argues that open questions are better suited when conducting interviews. The model for innovative behaviour was tested for reliability and several forms of variability by Messmann and Mulder (2012) themselves, who found the items they developed to be both reliable and valid. Additionally, as an applicable operationalisation of the parameters of De Sitter (2000) into semi-structured interview questions is missing in academic literature, this operationalisation was made specifically for this thesis. The interview format can be found in Appendix A. As innovative behaviour of volunteers is central in this research, the interviews with the three voluntary layers focus on innovative behaviour, organisational structure and the relation between the two. The interviews with office members are mainly targeting organisational structure, as office members have a clear view over the structure of the whole organisation. Lastly, the interviews with board members are more exploratory-based.

3.2.2 Data collection & analysis

As introduced in the previous paragraph, the collection of data in the diagnostic phase will be done using semi-structured interviews. Bleijenbergh (2015) argues that the usage of interviews allows for the researcher to create a clear view on the central concepts. As the questions of the interviews are based on the operationalisation of the central constructs and interview formats are used, all aspects of the central concepts can be discussed. However, as the interviews are

semi-structured, extra questions can optionally be asked to get clearer answers and a better understanding of the perspective of interviewees. In this research, a total of eleven interviews with members of Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop were conducted. These interviews are conducted on different layers of the organisation, as a distinction is made between office, board, coordinators, sub-coordinators and daily volunteers.

When determining the amount of interviews that is required to get an adequate understanding of an organisation, saturation is a good indicator. Saturation is reached if the collection of additional data does not shed any further light on the issue under investigation (Mason, 2010). In total, eleven interviews were conducted. Within most organisational layers, saturation was perceived to be sufficient after two interviews. However, an additional third interview with a coordinator was conducted. This decision was made as the first two interviews were conducted with coordinators of output-based coordination areas. To gain a broader understanding of the organisation, a third interview was conducted with the coordinator of a supportive area (Logistics). The table below shows the organisational roles of the employees and their respective codes. To gain a full understanding of the relations between these organisational roles, appendix B provides the organogram of the Zevenheuvelenloop in its entirety.

Function	Coding Abbreviation
Production Manager Office	РМО
Communication Manager Office	СМО
Chairman Board	СВ
Innovator (Secretary) Board	IB
Coordinator Logistics	CL
Coordinator Start/Finish	CSF
Coordinator Parcours	СР
Sub-Coordinator Drinks Post	SCDP
Sub-Coordinator Drinks & Medals stand	SCDM
Daily Volunteer Logistics	DVL
Daily Volunteer Drinks & Medals stand	DVDM

Due to pandemic related measurements, the decision was made to conduct the interviews digitally, using a video-calling programme.

The interviews were recorded and a verbatim transcript was made, to ensure that everything the interviewees said is saved and can be used in the data analysis. The verbatim transcripts were then coded, using the theoretical insights as discussed in chapter 2 and the operationalisation of the constructs based on these theoretical insights. This operationalisation provides a good systematic framework to assess all indicators of the constructs. These indicators are clustered into dimensions, which are discussed in chapter 4. As previously explained, the interviews were conducted among members of all five organisational layers. To aim for an optimal understanding of the concepts and their relation within the Zevenheuvelenloop, chapter 4 discusses the dimensions using gained from all organisational layers, if applicable. Aiming for an objective analysis, the analysis contains (translated) quotations of respondents.

In addition to conducting semi-structured interviews, a few internal documents of Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop are analysed. To get a clear image of the current organisational structure, the organogram (appendix B) and a summarised overview of organisational layers (provided in chapter 4) were used.

3.3 Redesign methods

This section focuses on the methods required to develop a redesign that better enables innovative behaviour to occur within the Zevenheuvelenloop. As discussed in chapter 2, the sociotechnical theory on designing and redesigning organisational structures is used as the basis for the redesign.

3.3.1 Research design & selection

As previously discussed, the redesign phase is used to answer the second part of the research question and the third sub-question: *How can the organisational structure of the Zevenheuvelenloop be redesigned to increase innovative behaviour?*

To properly answer this question, this research phase uses input gained during a focus group. Beck et al. define a focus group as "an informal discussion among selected individuals about specific topics" (1986, p. 73). Wilkinson (1998) argues that the method of focus groups has proven to be a popular tool in participatory action research projects and is often used as a catalyst or agent of change. However, Drayton, Fahad and Tynan (1989) argue that focus groups have limited reliability and validity and result in various forms of moderator and respondent bias.

Although the selected participants are chosen among different organisational levels, the prerequisite was taken into account that participants should have sufficient involvement in organisational activities, to ensure the participants can provide substantial and qualitative input. As sub-coordinators and coordinators are involved in more organisational activities than daily volunteers, the decision was made not to include daily volunteers in the focus group. The list of participants can be found in appendix C. The topics of discussion of the focus group are based on the outcomes of the diagnostic phase. Additionally, participants will be provided with an introduction on general redesign theories.

3.3.2 Data collection & analysis

The redesign phase and thus the focus group are participative, meaning that the redesign occurs as a group, using the inputs and ideas of those involved. Achterbergh and Vriens (2019) argue that participation of employees in the design phase is required as they often have a better idea of the organisation and its problems and involving them in the process often results in a better understanding of them on why the change is occurring. A participative focus group in this case thus would lead to a redesign that better suits the organisation.

The research approach of the focus group is, in line with the entire research, deductive-based. This entails that the sociotechnical theory on designing and redesigning organisations was introduced to participants and the discussion during the focus group was guided based on theoretically distinguished steps, in which the researcher took a facilitative role to ensure that the discussions held followed the deductive-based approach. The participants could use the theoretical insights and assess to what extent they apply to their organisation and how they could be used to improve the organisational structure. As is implied by Kuipers, van

Amelsvoort, and Kramer (2018), a redesign based on the sociotechnical insights should be made given organisational circumstances. In practice, not all ideal design aspects can be incorporated in the vast majority of organisations due to practical constraints. Allowing for the participants to apply the theory themselves, it is strived to find the optimal structure based both on sociotechnical theory as well as the organisational context.

The researcher uses the outputs and conclusions of the focus group as a guideline and structures them to become a fully proposed redesign of the organisational structure. During the focus group, an audio recording was made. This audio recording is used to make a summary, in which the major arguments, considerations, and thoughts of the participants and facilitator are written down. This way, the loss of information is reduced. This transcript is used as guidance for the actual proposed redesign as introduced in chapter 5. The redesign follows the steps as distinguished by Kuipers, van Amelsvoort, and Kramer (2018). The transcription of the focus group was analysed by coding the discussions based on steps of the redesign process. All arguments and discussions per step were then combined, to assess what redesign options are useful for that step.

3.4 Quality of research

For the results of any research to contribute and actually mean something, the quality of the research must be considered. Many scholars have addressed the subject of what criteria should be used to assess the quality of qualitative research (Hammersley, 2009; Kmet, Lee & Cook, 2004; Krefting, 1991; Murry & Hammons, 1995), though the specific criteria they propose seem to vary per research. To assess the quality of this research, the criteria as introduced by Lincoln and Guba (1985) are used. As Symon and Cassell (2012) argue, these criteria cover the key elements that are of importance to assess the trustworthiness of a research. The four criteria as distinguished by Lincoln and Guba are credibility, dependability, confirmability, and transferability. In the sections below, an assessment of these criteria for this research is provided.

Credibility regards the degree to which the results of the research are depicting the situation in reality (Symon & Cassell, 2012). In this research, credibility is tried to achieve in several ways.

Firstly, as several sources of data are used to construct the diagnosis. The inputs of both interviews and a few internal documents are used, to get an accurate picture on the situation. Additionally, some exploratory conversations with the organisation were held to get an adequate overview of the case. To increase credibility, the decision was made to conduct interviews with all five layers within the organisation. At the start of each interview, the participants were notified that their names will remain anonymous in the research report, to increase the honesty of answers provided. They were also notified that the interviews are recorded and these recordings would be used to make a verbatim transcript, in order to decrease loss of information. A member check was also conducted, as the interviewees got to read the verbatim transcript and were encouraged to make remarks on the interpretations, before they were used for analysis. For the focus group, the same process regarding transcription and member check applies. As the focus group consists of a group of people who were able to see and hear each other, anonymity within the group could not be guaranteed. However, participants were notified that their contributions would remain anonymous within the research report.

Dependability refers to the extent to which the study could be repeated by other researchers and to what degree they would find similar outcomes (Symon & Cassell, 2012). This research aims for dependability in two ways. Firstly, the theoretical, methodological, and analytical choices made in the research are substantiated as clearly as possible. This provides transparency for readers and allows them to assess whether the right choices were made. Secondly, this research relies on inquiry audits. This entails that fellow scholars examine the research process and analysis. In this research, a student writing a similar thesis and two professors of the Radboud University are involved in the assessment of the process of this research.

Confirmability regards whether the findings are based on the responses of participants and do not involve any bias of the researcher (Symon & Cassell, 2012). In this research, confirmability was strived for using an audit trail. An audit trail entails that all steps made regarding data analysis are substantiated and based on the theoretical framework as provided, using a deductive research approach to ensure systematic coding. In the data collection phase, confirmability was strived for using member checks and transcripts of audio recordings.

Lastly, the concept of transferability regards the extent to which the findings of a research are applicable to similar contexts (Symon & Cassell, 2012). By providing thick descriptions as

much as possible, this research tries to enable others to apply the results of this research to their specific cases.

Due to pandemic-related concerns, the decision was made to conduct the interviews using a video-calling programme. This was beneficial as it allowed for the interviews to take place despite limiting circumstances. Making the use of video, the researcher and interviewee were enabled to see each other, albeit virtually. Although video-calling is a viable alternative for face-to-face interactions, academics argue that it does not allow for the same richness of data collection, considering that subtle non-verbal cues can be lost (Deakin & Wakefield, 2014; Lo Iocano, Symonds, & Brown, 2016). In this research, the audio of one of the interviews could not be recorded due to technical difficulties. Although the researcher made notes of the majority of the interview, some data was lost due to this issue.

The focus group was conducted using a video-calling programme as well. This was perceived to have little negative aspects compared to a face-to-face meeting. General issues of limited computer access or computer skills of participants, as mentioned by Kenny (2005), did not seem to apply and no technical issues were perceived. Participants were not observed to be hindered or bothered by the online setting.

In addition to the quality of data collection and analysis, the quality of the theoretical framework is of importance. Messmann and Mulder (2012) reviewed their scale on innovative work behaviour regarding validity and reliability themselves and found that several of the relations between the elements of the model as proposed were both valid and reliable. Additionally, the constructed items as proposed were both valid and reliable. However, there seems to be a lack of peer reviewing and academic testing of this model by other scholars. Additionally, as the items of Messmann and Mulder (2012) were survey-items, they had to be rewritten into open interview questions, which might have some quality related implications. Additionally, these questions are proposed in English. However, the interviewees are Dutch and therefore, the interviews were held in Dutch. A language translation thus was required as well. Regarding the sociotechnical design theory as developed by De Sitter (2000), an issue arises as there seems to be a lack of operationalisation of the organisational structure, based on the parameters. Accordingly, a peer reviewed and tested interview format was missing. Both operationalisation and construction of the interview format have been done for this research specifically, though
a test on the quality of both is absent. Lastly, both theories on innovative behaviour and organisational structure are developed regarding employees specifically. Application on volunteers seems to be lacking. As was previously argued, the characteristics of volunteers are not expected to inhibit the application of these theories to this case, although this application could affect the quality of research.

3.5 Ethics

Every kind of research has to consider some ethical issues. By applying certain ethical principles, participants in the study can be protected (Orb, Eisenhauer & Wynaden, 2000). As Shaw (2003) elaborates, within qualitative research design, issues of informed consent, confidentiality, and privacy are of high ethical importance. To ensure this, participants in this research were fully informed on the subject of the research, as they were given a short summary of the purpose of the research before the interviews and focus group began. Additionally, before the start of both interviews and the focus group, the researcher made clear to participants that their name remains anonymous within the research paper and the information as provided in the interview is used for this research only. Before the start of both interviews and focus group, participants were informed that the session was recorded, as the audio file was destroyed. Before the start of both the interviews and focus group, the participants were asked whether they understand the above mentioned issues regarding ethics and whether they still agree to participate.

With regards to the focus group, the role of the researcher should be considered. During the focus group, the researcher took on the role of facilitator, to stimulate and guide the discussion. As Drayton, Fahad and Tynan (1989) argue, this facilitating role results in moderator bias, as the moderator is involved in- and thus influences- the discussion. Attempts were made by the researcher to minimise this bias by directing the discussion towards relevant topics and guiding the discussion by repeating statements of participants instead of proposing their own ideas. However, it can be argued that some degree of moderator bias is inherent to focus groups and is thus inevitable, especially given the deductive-based focus group as conducted in this research.

4. Analysis of diagnosis

This chapter discusses the analysis of the diagnostic data. The overview of the organisation can be found in the summarised organogram in figure 4.



Figure 4: Organogram (simplified) of the Zevenheuvelenloop

In the upcoming paragraphs, firstly the analysis of the diagnosis regarding innovative behaviour within the varying organisational layers will be discussed. A division is made per dimension of innovative behaviour, as discussed in chapter 2. Secondly, the analysis of the diagnosis on organisational structure is discussed. The third paragraph provides insights on the relation between the two. The fourth paragraph discusses additional findings and lastly, a conclusion of the diagnosis is provided. The following paragraphs contain quotations of the interviewees, to substantiate the analysis. With each quotation, the code of the interviewee is provided. The overview of organisational roles and codes of the interviewees can be found in chapter 3.

4.1 Innovative behaviour

In earlier chapters, it was explained that innovative behaviour in this thesis is measured using an operationalisation based on the five dimensions as distinguished by Messmann and Mulder (2012). The sections below address the extent of innovative behaviour among the various organisational layers of Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop, per dimension.

4.1.1 Opportunity exploration

In chapter 2, opportunity exploration was introduced as looking out and trying to find ways to improve current activities or trying to think about ongoing work processes and outputs in new ways (Farr & Ford, 1990). Opportunity exploration is broadly divided in two categories: opportunity exploration within the organisation and outside of the organisation, for example within the industry, or at other organisations (Messmann & Mulder, 2012). Within Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop, the interviews showed a clear distinction regarding the degree to which volunteers and employees from different organisational layers were partaking in opportunity exploration. Daily volunteers, who are responsible for executing operational activities during the event, are hardly occupied with exploring opportunities for innovation, as substantiated in one of the interviews:

"You are mainly occupied with your own workplace. You don't know what other things are happening, or how many people are working in the organisation. You only focus on your job." (DVDM)

It is clear she was occupied with doing her work, and was not up to date on other aspects of the organisation. She also doesn't look for innovative opportunities in other running-event organisations:

"I'm not occupied with that. I'm purely focusing on the job on the day itself. Perhaps it happens for people who are higher in the organisation." (DVDM)

The daily volunteer is hardly involved in the organisation and thus doesn't partake in opportunity exploration. The sub-coordinator of the Drinks and Medals stand explains that his interest in the organisation itself is limited to the Start/Finish coordination area, of which his sub-coordination area is a part. The sub-coordinator of the Drink Post explains he used to be more involved in the organisation, because he wanted to be more up to date back then. Nowadays, he wants his role to be more focused on his current function and be less involved in the organisation as a whole. This shows that the degree to which the sub-coordinators are exploring opportunities by staying up to date on developments within the organisation is limited to their own interests to do so. Additionally, the same line of thought applies for the degree to which they are up to date on developments outside of Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop. For example, respondent SCDM when asked about being up to date in the entire industry, said:

"No not really. [...] I enjoy working for this organisation, they are good people. But I don't care about the running industry. I did notice that for example, the coordinator at Start/Finish is a runner himself. He has ideas, based on the marathon of Berlin or Rotterdam" (SCDM)

The extent to which sub-coordinators are exploring opportunities thus seems to be dependent on their personal interests to do so. For coordinators, their involvement in opportunity exploration is also partly based on personal interest:

"[...] I enjoy running a lot and participating in various events. So, when I join an event, I tend to look around "what does the dressing area look like?" and that provides you with ideas on how to do things differently" (CSF)

Respondent CP has a similar idea on opportunity exploration at other events:

"You start to look at other events differently, yes. Sometimes you watch TV and focus on the way they use roadblocks or traffic regulators. But it is more an interest than really actively tracking it" (CP)

So, to some extent these coordinators are involved in opportunity exploration outside of Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop, based on their involvement in their coordinating position. Within Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop, they are a lot more aware of developments than the sub-coordinators and volunteers are, but still not fully aware of developments in the entire organisation. Respondent CSF responds to the question to what extent she is aware of developments within the Zevenheuvelenloop, yet outside of her own coordination area:

"Obviously, less than in my own coordination area. Although, we are immediately informed on big developments, because it often affects the Start/Finish." (CSF)

Respondent CP substantiated a similar opinion:

"well, not entirely. You can't expect all coordinators to fully keep track of all developments, that would be confusing and takes way too much time. A balance is required, to be informed well enough to function properly, but not too much. It depends per coordinator what their preferences are." (CP)

So, the coordinators are more up to date in comparison to sub-coordinators and volunteers. This is partly due to their experience, which makes them look at other events differently. Additionally, due to their responsibilities they are more involved in certain areas of development. This is a deliberate decision, as this allows the office to consult the expertise of particular coordinators, whose coordination areas are affected by the development. Coordinators are less aware of developments in coordination areas that do not affect their area, as they feel there is no need to and it takes too much time.

When coordinators are looking for opportunities for innovation, they tend to focus on improving their area of coordination. These innovations are often incremental, and aimed at improving efficiency. The same applies for sub-coordinators, although their span of focus is even more converged. Exploration of opportunities that extend particular coordination areas tends to happen within the office or the board. As respondent CB explains:

"Big new ideas are introduced by the office. [...] Ideas from the [voluntary] people... perhaps more practical ideas: dressing room, layout. But they won't introduce the hourglass start, those are not big changes. Those are small changes [...]. "(CB)

Respondent IB draws the same conclusion. When asked in what parts of the organisation innovation occurs, he answered:

"Everywhere. Although coordinators are mainly concerned with optimising their own coordination area [...]" (IB)

In summary, it can be concluded that the degree of opportunity exploration is higher in organisational positions in which people are more involved in organisational activities. This seems due to their involvement in the organisation, allowing them to think about subjects that affect their area more often. Additionally, this increased involvement leads to more active exploration outside of the organisation. For coordinators and sub-coordinators, opportunity exploration tends to be limited to their own area of coordination. Within the board and the office, this limitation is exceeded, as their functions are broader than particular areas of coordination.

4.1.2 Idea generation

Idea generation is referred to as a process of openly discussing substantial work-related issues, addressing beliefs and values and introducing and discussing ideas on how to change these problems (Messmann & Mulder, 2012). Starting the analysis on idea generation within the Zevenheuvelenloop at the level of daily volunteers, similarly to the findings of opportunity exploration, respondent DVDM is hardly occupied with idea generation as well. She explains that her involvement in creating new ideas is very limited. She is only involved during the day and focuses on her job in the organisation. She gives limited feedback on potential areas of improvement or asks critical questions. However, when she notices something that does not work, she likes to suggest potential ideas for improvement with her sub-coordinator:

"I like to think about those things, but that is personal. I think most day volunteers don't really care" (DVDM)

The generation of ideas thus is limited for daily volunteers and seems to only apply for solving small practical problems that occur during the day. The daily volunteer said she did not express any kind of evaluation, although other sources in the organisation did state that an evaluation survey among all day volunteers was shared. However, the idea generation as provided by this survey is limited to very practical points, such as quality of lunch.

The sub-coordinators are more actively expressing evaluations, by discussing them with their coordinators and the office. Respondent SCDP says:

"It is very important to make notes during the day, to ensure the office can use them in evaluation for next year." (SCDP)

The sub-coordinators thus partake in generating ideas on what to improve, though this is concentrated within their area of coordination. The sub-coordinator of the Drinks and Medals stand explains that his evaluation on potential improvements serves as input for the office and coordinators to turn into actual improvements.

Coordinators are more involved in generating ideas. Firstly, this is due to the fact that the office involves them in new ideas that exceed specific coordination areas:

"That happens via the office, often via the managing director. He sent us an email saying "guys this is the idea, what do you think about it?" This way, we are involved in the idea" (CSF)

She explains that if a coordinator has a big idea, this is also developed by discussing it with the office. In the interview, she said:

"Often, big new ideas are discussed based on previous evaluations. If you have an idea, you bring it to the office. Although, I haven't really thought of anything big myself. Bigger new ideas often are introduced by the office." (CSF)

New ideas thus are generated by discussion between the relevant coordinators and the office. Within coordination areas, these discussions are based on evaluations of the previous year. Respondent CP explains that coordinators are not really helping to generate and improve new ideas that are not related to their own coordination area:

"not really. For many of us, it [=coordinating] is more of a side job. Other areas are often busy thinking of improvements, and you really have to know a lot about the details to help generate and improve these ideas. You try to stay out of that and focus on your own area. You don't have the time to put into other areas. So, no, regarding innovations or changing things, coordination areas tend to do that within their own area and by discussing it with the office. You stay out of that." (CP)

Idea generation within coordination areas thus often happens based on evaluations, as provided by mainly sub-coordinators and coordinators. These evaluation ideas on how to improve certain aspects within the coordination area are discussed between the coordinator and the board, sometimes also involving a sub-coordinator if specific details are required. Additionally, many of the innovative ideas that exceed the limits of specific coordination areas are introduced by either the board or the office. Within the office, ideas are stimulated:

"At the office, all of us are together in one room and thus you overhear things, that automatically provides an involvement and stimulates you to think "this might work". And sometimes we deliberately have brainstorm sessions on certain topics." (CMO)

The chairman of the board explains that mainly the innovator of the board is particularly skilled in thinking out of the box and introducing radical new innovations. Additionally, the director is very skilled in innovative ideas. The board and the office have a lot of contact regarding innovation, as substantiated:

"We constantly try to come up with things that others cannot think of. It is a fixed topic on the agenda: innovation." (CB)

"We [=the board] meet every month. Additionally... sometimes [the director] contacts us about certain topics and when the secretary has an idea, he discusses it with the office as well." (CB)

These broad ideas are then discussed by the office and the coordinators whose area is involved. If specific, detailed information is required, the sub-coordinator is contacted as well. For example, the introduction of Ooho balls to the event. Ooho balls are sustainable packages of seaweed that contain drinks and are introduced to decrease waste. This idea was introduced by the office, who then involved several coordination areas. For the specific implementation, they involved the sub-coordinator of the Drinks Post as well.

4.1.3 Idea promotion

The theory on innovative behaviour, as explained by Messmann and Mulder (2012), notes that once an idea is generated, it has to be promoted within the organisation to ensure that implementation can be possible. This regards whether people promote their ideas to gain support of colleagues and supervisors. Within Zevenheuvelenloop, idea promotion seems to be of little significance. As discussed in the previous section, idea generation usually happens by starting dialogue and discussing it with the relevant parties, often including the office and relevant coordinators. These also tend to be the main sources of new ideas, in which coordinators are mainly occupied with introducing incremental innovations within their coordination area. Due to this organisational characteristic in which development occurs through dialogue, idea promotion doesn't seem required to enable ideas to be realised. This is addressed in the following quotation:

"[...] when we would think of something, we could put it on the table. I do not feel a threshold for going to the office and say: "I have got this idea, perhaps that would work?". Although in the end, the office is responsible of course." (CSF)

The openness and willingness to share ideas and stimulate innovation within the organisation is seen as a major asset. When this was mentioned in the interview with respondent CMO, she responded:

Definitely! A nice example of this regarding medals. We used to have medals [...] made of zinc. This was very bad. [...] [we introduced a more sustainable alternative]. We mentioned this during a coordinators meeting. The coordinator Catering came to me and said: "I thought about it, you should consider [whether these medals are made fully sustainable]. People are really involved, he did not care that it wasn't in his coordination area and he felt free to talk to us about that. That is a great sign, it shows commitment and that they feel welcome to share input and criticism. That shows the character of the organisation" (CMO)

This shared feeling of openness and willingness to stimulate new ideas and the shared mind-set of 'what is best for the organisation' decreases the need to 'promote' new ideas and to try to convince others within the organisation to consider the idea.

4.1.4 Idea realisation

Idea realisation, as distinguished by Messmann and Mulder (2012), consists of three indicators: introducing colleagues to the application of a solution, testing solutions when putting them into practice and analysing solutions on unwanted side-effects.

With regards to the introduction of the application of a solution to colleagues, similarities to idea promotion can be found. Due to the character of the organisation in which dialogue between relevant positions is stimulated when developing ideas, several instances within the organisation are involved in the application of the innovation. As sub-coordinators are involved in coordinating the execution of tasks during the event, discussion on how to apply an innovation also involves the relevant sub-coordinator. A good example of this is the implementation of the Ooho:

"These things are introduced by the office. [...] they immediately ask us, the drinks posts, what we think. How should they be implemented? What do we think about it in general? Such an innovation means that you have to redesign your drink post. Therefore the subcoordinator and me think about that, how to design it, how to place everything. The three of us discussed that, me, the sub-coordinator and [production manager]. (CP) This shows that in order to ensure proper implementation of a new idea, all relevant layers of the organisation are involved to make a full, detailed plan on the realisation.

Extensive new innovations usually are implemented gradually. This way, Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop reduces risk and has the opportunity to test whether an idea seems to be successful, before fully implementing it. The Ooho balls provide a good example of this as well:

"Big innovations, such as the Ooho and the Chip, are tested on a smaller scale first. That is crucial. There always are unexpected aspects to these kinds of things. People might throw the Ooho away instead of swallowing it, that could lead to people slipping on the seaweed." (IB)

Respondent CB adds:

"We used those balls at one event, and we only used 5000 even though there were a lot more participants. Only a few people got them. [...] We do tests, use surveys and stuff to measure the response of participants." (CB)

This shows that these extensive innovations tend to be implemented gradually, and Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop tries to test it before fully implementing a radical idea. For smaller, incremental innovations, this testing phase has lesser importance.

4.1.5 Reflection

Reflection regards whether a person can assess the process and evaluate the success of a certain innovation, based on set criteria (Messmann & Mulder, 2012). Evaluation is of big importance for Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop. They use this as one of the main sources of input for changes to make in the upcoming year. To ensure that the organisation can learn as much as possible of previous editions, evaluation is quite extensive. All sub-coordinators and coordinators fill in an evaluation template, which regards both their coordination area and area exceeding aspects, such as communication lines. Respondent PMO explains the use of the evaluations:

"the coordinator and you [...] look at the evaluation, what went well last year and what went wrong, who should we contact, should we approach it differently or plan things differently. Together, you translate the tactical into the operational." (PMO) The evaluations thus function as a guidance for potential improvements and innovations, based on experience. When something new is implemented, extra attention is paid to it in the evaluations. For example, respondent SCDP mentioned:

"Definitely, that is what makes it interesting. If you keep doing the same every year, it is no fun. Building the drinks post and ensuring everyone gets their drink is no challenge. You want to grow as an event and therefore, I want the drink post to become better and more exciting. So, whether the innovative idea comes from the office or me, you pay extra attention to it that year. And in the evaluation you automatically focus on that new aspect more, yes" (SCDP)

On the one hand, this shows the drive of various organisational layers to strive for continuous improvement and innovations. On the other hand, it shows that evaluations are important when implementing new ideas. This is in line with what the innovator of the board explained regarding idea realisation, that testing of ideas is essential. To assess whether the test or newly implemented idea is successful, adequate evaluation is required. In addition to evaluation of the event itself, evaluation on the process is assessed, by sub-coordinators, coordinators and the office:

"Those are important things as well. It [=evaluation] is about the event itself, how the collaboration went and the preparations, those kinds of stuff" (CSF)

For some sub-coordinators, despite trying to continuously improve, there is a limit to the extent to which they can improve based on evaluations. This is explained by respondent SCDM:

"There also are certain things you can't influence yourself. For example, the people who are volunteering during the day. Sometimes, these daily volunteers function better than other years" (SCDM)

4.2 Organisational structure

Organisational structure in this thesis is defined as the way tasks are defined, related, and divided within an organisation (Achterbergh & Vriens, 2010; 2019). Using a sociotechnical design perspective, defining the operational process of the organisation often is a useful starting point for analysing structure. Regarding the Zevenheuvelenloop, two interrelated operational

processes can be unravelled. As the production manager of the office explains, there is a difference between activities that take place in advance of eight weeks before the event starts, in the activities in the last eight weeks. Eight weeks before the event is the deadline for the permits, which means that all the important, general aspects for the event are fixed. This process unfolds as follows:

"The event minus eight weeks, that is the permit deadline. At that time, the programme must be clear, the parcours must be clear, the medical-, traffic-, and safety measures must be clear. A full blueprint of the entire event thus is required at minus eight weeks. [...] If we [= the office] have thought of how to design it strategically, then we include coordinators to make the translation of tactical to operational. [... So,] in the time span between minus 8 weeks and 0, you and the coordinator take a look at "this is what we said we would do in the permit, [...] how will that take shape?"" (PMO)

This minus eight week mark thus distincts two operational processes. Firstly, the operational process related to the execution of the event and the implementation of plans. This is the period starting at minus eight weeks, in which practical preparations are made. Additionally, the execution of the event and the direct evaluation afterwards are part of this process. Coordinators are highly involved in this, as they finalise the preparations, monitor during the event and evaluate on their activities afterwards. As the quotation of the production manager of the office shows, the plans that are made for the upcoming event are translated to practical and operational activities. The other operational process regards the full process of organising the event. This process follows the cycle of managing projects, which contains four phases: initiation, planning, execution, and closure (Westland, 2007). This process starts as soon as the first preparations for the new event are starting to take shape, which usually is months in advance and happens within the office. After the event has taken place, this process also takes the full evaluation and reflection period into account. The two operational processes overlap as the broader operational process also contains the execution- and implementation centered process.

This distinction is of importance for analysing the organisational structure of Zevenheuvelenloop as the two processes are different objects of research. Depending on what operational process is seen as the primary process, a different analysis on several parameters can be distinguished. This thesis researches the relationship between organisational structure and innovative behaviour. As previously argued, the voluntary members account for a

substantial part of the organisation and are a major potential source of innovative opportunities. As the voluntary members of the organisation seem mainly involved in the executional process of the event, the decision is made to take the execution- and implementation centered process as the primary object of analysis in the diagnosis. Given that the role of the volunteers is mainly focused on this executional process, a large part of the collected data relates to this process. However, paragraph 4.4 on additional findings will provide remarks on the operational process based on the entire project management cycle, as analysing the relationship between organisational structure and innovative behaviour in this process can also provide valuable insights. When analysing organisational structures, Achterbergh and Vriens (2010;2019) suggest to use workplaces as units of analysis. In this case, one workplace is one coordination area. This includes the particular coordinator(s), sub-coördinator(s), and daily volunteer within one workplace. In the next paragraphs, the parameters will further be discussed.

4.2.1 Functional concentration

Functional concentration is defined as the way tasks are divided among workplaces, with respect to orders (Achterbergh & Vriens, 2010). In case of the Zevenheuvelenloop, orders can be seen as the three sub-events: Zevenheuvelennacht, Bedrijvenloop (business run), and Mini Zevenheuvelenloop (for children). To organise these sub-events, the organisation is divided into coordination areas. Each coordination area is supervised by one of the employees of the office. The larger coordination areas contain several smaller sub-coordination areas. An overview of all coordination- and sub-coordination areas can be found in the appendix B. As can be seen, seven of the coordination areas have supportive purposes: Electricity (Stroom), Logistics (Logistiek), Safety (Veiligheid), Mobility (Mobiliteit), Environment (Milieu), Connections (Verbindingen), and Signs (Borden). These coordination areas provide services for all of the sub-events during the event. For example, the coordination area of Logistics ensures transport for the Zevenheuvelennacht, business run, Mini Zevenheuvelenloop and the (regular) Zevenheuvelenloop. Thus, these workplaces are involved in all orders, within one event as a whole. Along with supportive coordination areas, there are areas with a more outputbased purpose. For example, there is a separate coordination area for the Mini Zevenheuvelenloop, which takes place in between the start and finish of the regular Zevenheuvelenloop. However, this coordination area still has contact with several of the other

coordination areas. For example, the coordination area of Mini Zevenheuvelenloop relies on Logistics, Electricity, Environment, etc. This is substantiated by respondent PMO:

"Yes [the Mini Zevenheuvelenloop and] the business run are separate entities, but they are fully incorporated in the activities of the Zevenheuvelenloop. It is not a fully separate event with a separate coordinator who takes care of [all supportive activities himself]" (PMO)

It thus can be concluded that the area of Mini Zevenheuvelenloop, although mainly occupied with organising the Mini Zevenheuvelenloop, is not fully responsible for the entirety of the order, as they have dealt with a network of varying contacts with other coordination areas. The same applies for other output-based coordination areas, as found during one of the interviews:

"You have a lot of contact with the other coordination areas. With some more than others. We have to discuss things with Mobility, to ensure roads are blocked[...]. We also tune with Logistics, as they provide materials. And Signs, they provide signage. A lot of other areas are of importance to us." (CSF)

Based on the findings that workplaces deal with varying orders and workplaces have to interact with a network of other workplaces in order to perform their operational activities, the conclusion can be made that the degree of functional concentration within the Zevenheuvelenloop is high. Given this high value, some additional remarks on this parameter are required. It is notable that according to the interviewees, this amount of interactions hardly ever leads to problems occurring. This is due to two factors. Firstly, the experience of most coordinators and sub-coordinators:

"I think it works really well because we have been working with the same people for a few years now, we know each other well and our experience allows us to think for ourselves and make our own decisions. The coordinator thus does not have to give instructions all the time, we also know what needs to happen. [...] that is a strength, we know each other and how everything works." (DVL)

A similar view was provided by respondent CP, who said:

"The first time, you don't really know what everything looks like. After a couple of years you know the entire map of the city by heart, you know all detours and shortcuts. Within a second you know how to fix things. [...] having experience definitely helps." (CP) Respondent CL has a similar line of thought on this topic:

"In interactions... there are relatively few problems occurring, because I can coordinate it myself. [...] And partly due to the experience of the entire team. [...]" (CL)

Respondent PMO explains how experience influences the way interactions within the structure occur:

"Someone who has been within the organisation a long time knows the lines better than someone who is doing it for the first time. [...] Sometimes, he can skip a few stations, but that depends on how experienced the person is. [...] so it can go cross medial." (PMO)

A second reason why the amount of interactions does not necessarily lead to problems can be accounted for by the voluntary nature of coordinators, sub-coordinators, and daily volunteers. They do not work for personal gain. The motivation for volunteering is substantiated in one of the interviews:

"I just like doing it. It is grateful work to be involved and to see that the event goes well. [...] they are kind and flexible people that make working together really easy. You get to know each other and make the best out of it together" (SCDM)

The voluntary character of a lot of the people working for the events thus apparently allows them to transcend personal agendas and politics, and ensures that people are working for the same goals. The combination of this experience and commitment to the organisation helps to tackle structural problems occurring due to functional concentration. Nevertheless, a high parameter value remains notable.

4.2.2 Differentiation of operational activities

The extent of differentiation of operational activities is perceived as clearly evident within Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop. Due to the event-based nature of the organisation, executive tasks can be seen as the tasks in direct preparation of-, during-, and directly after the event. This includes preparing the parcours, blocking roads, filling and manning the drink stands. These activities do not only take place during the event, but a few days in advance as well. A good example can be found within the coordination area of Logistics: "I am a volunteer [...] Logistics, which means that I work under the supervision of the coordinator Logistics, mainly during the event but also in anticipation of the event. I am responsible for moving stuff from A to B. [...] Usually the event takes place on Saturday and Sunday, and thus we work on Friday, Saturday, Sunday, and Monday." (DVL)

Preparatory activities in the few weeks before the event takes place are mainly performed by coordinators and sub-coordinators. For example:

"I am coordinator so I am not doing executional tasks but I prepare the scripts and planning and ensure everyone knows what their tasks are [...] so we make specific plans and discuss them with the sub-coordinators because they are more involved in the execution" (CSF)

Given that these coordinators and sub-coordinators are part of the workplace, it can be argued that the coordination area as a whole thus performs both preparatory- and executional activities. As discussed in the section regarding functional concentration, some coordination areas perform preparatory activities for other coordination areas. For example, the Logistics area makes sure all required items are present at the right places when the event starts. The argument thus can be made that not all coordination areas are responsible for their own preparatory activities. However, these supportive activities are directly related to the execution of the event and can thus be considered executional activities of the supportive coordination area.

The supportive activities related to the event are perceived to be mainly performed by the office. For example, financial declarations and compensation of the volunteers are managed at the office, as they ensure structural facilities are available and they dictate communicational pathways. Additionally, supportive tasks such as ICT and HR during the executional process of the event are performed by members of the office. During the interview, respondent CMO explains some of her supportive tasks as office member:

"Communications, building the website, newsletters, all information flows and expressions regarding the event." (CMO)

To summarise, both preparatory- and executional activities are performed within workplaces. However, a clear distinction between executive- and supportive activities becomes evident, as general supportive activities are performed by the office instead of coordination areas. Based on this, it can be concluded that the value of this parameter is rather high.

4.2.3 Specialisation of operational activities

As introduced in chapter two, this parameter regards the degree to which tasks are specialised into (cyclical) sub-tasks (Achterbergh & Vriens, 2010). The perspective of this parameter, in contrast to the previous parameters, is aimed within a workplace, or in this case, a coordination area. For the Zevenheuvelenloop, the degree of cyclical sub-tasks within a coordination area is limited. An example is provided:

"Depending on the event, you let them know how many days you want to work. Usually the event takes place on Saturday and Sunday, and thus you are working on Friday, Saturday, Sunday, Monday to build everything and clean it up." (DVL)

This shows that within the workplace of Logistics, daily volunteers are involved in putting everything in place, working during the event and picking things up afterwards. There are no short cyclical sub-tasks, which would be the case if for example one member of Logistics was occupied with putting all items in place on Friday, while another member performs the task of picking everything up on Monday. The same applies in other coordination areas. For example:

"*At drinks and medals you are mainly involved in preparing the post, ensuring everything is in place for the start. And when people finish, they get their drinks and medal.*" (DVDM)

The preparation of the stand on Friday however happens with a smaller number of people than the amount of people handing the medals and drinks. But this is not a case of serially divided activities, as the people who help preparing the stand are also involved in handing the drinks. Given this multifunctional character of the tasks as performed by workplaces, the value of the parameter can be seen as low.

4.2.4 Division between operational- and control activities

As workplaces are seen on the level of coordination areas, one workplace includes a coordinator, optionally sub-coordinators, and daily volunteers. As briefly mentioned in previous paragraphs, the daily volunteers are mainly occupied with executional tasks during the event. However, the degree to which they have control activities tends to differ per coordination area. For example, within the area of Logistics, the daily volunteers have a lot of regulatory capacity, as substantiated:

"The thing is, it's not just the coordinator or manager, but together we look at the problem and how to solve it. And that is a big compliment to the organisation." (DVL)

One important aspect in this is that the daily volunteers of Logistics have experience with the organisation and their work. The respondent explains that he has been helping for several years with a fixed team of people. This way, the team members know the process and know how to work together. This experience allows them to have more autonomy and solve problems themselves, or by discussing it with other relevant parties. Within the coordination area of Logistics, the coordinator functions as a connecting, monitoring, and coordinating function. The daily volunteers are occupied driving around and delivering items to coordination areas, while the coordinator is stationed in the central area. He explains that a lot of issues that occur can be solved within the coordination areas:

"Smaller changes and issues are easily handled myself. Usually I explain them to [production manager] and if he agrees, I can implement them myself" (CL)

In other coordination areas, this degree of autonomy and combination of operational- and control activities seems similar for the coordination area as a whole. However, there is a more clear distinction in control activities within the coordination area, as the control functions lie a lot more at the level of coordinators and sub-coordinators and a lot less at daily volunteers. During the event, the coordinator of Start/Finish has a monitoring function and has a lot of contact with sub-coordinators. When asked what her activities are during the event, she explains:

"Solving a lot of small problems. If something doesn't fully go according to plan, you go there and see what is going on and how to solve it. But usually, most things run smoothly so we don't really have to do that much. [...] usually answering a lot of questions of the sub-cocoordinators as well, as we are the first contacts they have" (CSF)

As Start/Finish is a large coordination area, sub-coordinators are also required to coordinate the daily volunteers. As respondent SCDM explains:

"As sub-coordinator of the start/finish area [...] I coordinate the stand. So, I have several volunteers and I build the place and coordinate them. That is my main task" (SCDM)

Meanwhile, The daily volunteer at this area are only doing operational tasks:

"There is a coordinator who tells us what to do, and he is in contact with the coordinators of the whole area. And we simply follow his instructions. [...] There is always a coordinator walking around to see whether everything is going according to plan. And the [sub-]coordinator himself is checking whether it is happening according to time schedule" (DVDM)

Within coordination areas as a whole, a lot of control activities to deal with disturbances are present. Dependent on the size of the coordination area, the complexity of tasks and the experience of the daily volunteers, there is a division of operational- and control activities within the coordination area. To respond to disturbances that transcend single coordination areas, coordinators often consult with office members and other relevant coordinators to find a suitable solution.

As this analysis perceives coordinators as a part of the workplaces, it can be concluded that workplaces possess a lot of regulatory capacity. Given this reasoning, the value of division between operational- and control activities can be concluded to be low.

4.2.5 Division of regulatory capacity to process parts

This parameter regards the extent to which regulatory activities are divided into three types of activities: monitoring, assessing, and acting (Achterbergh & Vriens, 2010). As was previously explained, a lot of these regulatory activities are allocated at the level of coordinators and subcoordinators. During the event, they monitor whether everything is running smoothly, assess whether intervention is required and eventually act upon it. During the interview, this was substantiated by respondent CSF:

"If you sense something doesn't go as planned, you go over there to see what the issue is and you solve it if possible" (CSF)

Respondent CP shares a similar experience in his area of work. During the interview, he said:

"If everything is set, I drive around the parcours a few times to assess whether everything is set properly. [...] if there is an issue, I can solve that immediately" (CP)

Sub-coordinators try to perform the monitoring, assessing, and acting activities themselves as much as possible, as the following quotation substantiates:

"A practical example, I once saw that the flow of runners did not go smoothly, and I assessed that it was due to the medals which are stacked in cardboard boxes and the cardboard was not taken away. I immediately decided to collect a few people and made sure the cardboard was brought to a container some meters away. This way, you solve problems immediately." (SCDM)

If they encounter problems they are unable to deal with themselves, they contact the coordinator. If the coordinator is unable to solve it as well, or if the issue is transcending the level of individual coordination areas, they contact the office. Within coordination areas there thus seems to be some division of regulatory capacity to process parts. However, coordination areas as a whole perform the three activities of monitoring, assessing, and acting themselves, it can be concluded that the value of the division of regulatory capacity to process parts is low.

4.2.6 Division of regulatory capacity to aspects

The division of regulatory capacity to aspects regards the extent to which regulatory activities of strategic-, design-, and operational nature are performed by separate organisational workplaces (Achterbergh & Vriens, 2010). As previously explained, for the execution of the events, coordinators and sub-coordinators have a lot of operational regulatory capacity. Additionally, some of the daily volunteers who are more experienced and have more elaborate operational activities also have operational regulatory capacity. It can thus be concluded that generally, operational regulatory capacity can be found within workplaces for the execution of events.

A degree of regulation by design can also be found within coordination areas during the executional process of the event. Regulation by design regards the way the organisational infrastructure is organised (Achterbergh & Vriens, 2010). During the event, coordination areas have the capacity to flexibly reallocate tasks over people. A practical example of this regulation is provided during the interview with respondent SCDM. As introduced in the paragraph above, he once encountered problems with cardboard boxes that were not taken away. His solution was to reallocate tasks:

"I immediately decided to collect a few people and made sure the cardboard was brought to a container some meters away. This way, you solve problems immediately." (SCDM) It also occurs that regulation by design is used to solve problems that transcend individual (sub-)coordination areas. An example of this was also provided:

"If all runners have started and the first people arrive at the finish, it happens that my area lacks capacity to hand drinks to all runners. I discuss this with the coordinator of Start/Finish or the Environment area and they provide people who can help us" (SCDM)

In the interviews with members of the areas of Logistics and Parcours, no specific examples of regulation by design were provided. Additionally, there were limited findings on the degree of strategic regulatory capacity within coordination areas. Strategic regulation regards changing goals to deal with disturbances (Achterbergh & Vriens, 2010). It can be argued that due to the experience of the organisation and many of the more involved members, the more radical regulatory activities of design and strategic regulation are less required during the events to solve problems:

"I believe that the Zevenheuvelenloop is organised really well. We notice this as we do not have to work very hard during the event, this indicates that the organisation is running smoothly" (DVL)

Similarly, respondent IB shares this believe that the events are executed really well. He said during the interview:

"If people are busy in the execution, they do not have time to look around for improvements. That is based on quality of organisation. We do have the time to look around. [...] that says something about the way we organise the event" (IB)

It can thus be reasoned that regulation by design and strategic regulation in the execution of the events are rarely required. Given the conclusion of the previous paragraph that coordination areas often can solve problems themselves or in consultation with the office, an argument can be made that they have sufficient regulatory capacity. However, a decisive conclusion on the degree of division of regulatory capacity to aspects in the executional process of the event cannot be provided due to a lack of empirical evidence on the amount of strategic regulatory capacity of workplaces.

4.2.7 Specialisation of regulatory activities

Specialisation of regulatory activities regards the degree to which regulatory activities are divided over workplaces based on specialised topics (Achterbergh & Vriens, 2010). With regards to this parameter, most of these regulatory activities during the executive organisational process are performed by the office. For example, one of the office employees is mainly responsible for finance, another focuses on communication, two others are occupied with production. A full overview of the main responsibilities of the office employees can be found in the organogram, in appendix B.

For the employee of the office to make regulatory decisions regarding one of these specialisations, they discuss it with the other office employees and the director. This way, although one person is in charge of the theme, the decision is made collectively within the office. For example, one member of the office is responsible for finances and thus handles the declarations and financial compensations of the volunteers during the executional process of the event. However, the decision on what financial compensations volunteers can receive is made collectively. Additionally, for several decisions, the office employees involve relevant coordinators and sub-coordinators for input and ideas on the matter.

Taking this into account and given that office members make collective decisions despite each member being specialised in certain topics, it can be concluded that the value of the specialisation of regulatory activities can be seen as low. It is notable though that all of these more specialised regulatory activities are mainly based within the office and not in coordination areas. As this distinction between office and coordination areas has been discussed previously for other parameters, no specific quotations on specialisation of regulatory activities were distinguished in the coded interviews.

4.3 Relation between organisational structure and innovative behaviour

During the interviews, the relation between the organisational structure of the Zevenheuvelenloop and the innovative behaviour in the executional process became clear to some extent. For example, respondent IB said during the interview:

"In organisations, if you are well prepared and organised, you have the freedom to look around. If you are busy executing and solving problems, you don't have the time to look around and see what could be improved. That is the quality of our organisation. We have the time and space to look around during the event to look for improvements. Especially on larger aspects. " (IB)

He clearly thinks that one of the assets of the organisation, which distinctively allows them to have a leading role in innovation, was the smooth organisation. This can be (partly) assigned to the organisational structure. As previously explained, the sub-coordinators can solve a lot of occurring issues during the event themselves. The coordinators and office employees are present during the event to tackle larger issues if they occur. However, they also have the time and opportunity to look for possibilities for improvement. The same applies for the board members, who have a free role during the event to look for opportunities to improve:

"The office has no real executional tasks during the event, they are free to solve large problems and to have an overview. So the office- and board members can look for new opportunities during the event. The volunteers are more occupied with the execution within their scope". (IB)

Coordinators introduce several ideas for improvement, although these tend to be incremental and limited within their own coordination area. The same applies to sub-coordinators, who specifically focus on their part of the coordination area. The scope to which people explore innovative opportunities therefore is limited to the area of the organisation they are mainly occupied in. This is determined by the organisational structure. This is substantiated by respondent CP, who said:

"Usually, I improve small things within my own area. [...] you stop thinking of big opportunities outside of your area. The intensity to which you think on how to improve the organisation is limited at some point" (CP)

To summarise, the degree of functional concentration and the extent to which there is differentiation of operational activities over the operational process of the event influences the extent to which opportunity exploration and idea generation by the workplaces occurs, outside of the particular coordination areas in which coordinators and sub-coordinators are active.

When implementing and realising new ideas, some errors tend to occur. The cause of this can also be found in the organisational structure. As members of the office explain, the degree of vertical hierarchy sometimes leads to interaction-related problems. This occurs due to the fact 58 that the daily volunteers who are responsible for the execution of the event, are not included in the preparation. Preparation is done by the office and coordinators. The coordinators have to transform the plans into detailed handbooks, which are given to the sub-coordinators. Thus, several interactions are required to ensure that plans are transformed into practice. This can inhibit the implementation of innovations:

"We hear that quite a few times, that not everyone knows about the innovation. Sometimes we work on an idea with a small group, and then someone who has to execute it at the end of the line doesn't understand it or encounters issues that we did not think about" (CMO)

It can thus be concluded that the separation between operational- and regulatory activities as well as the differentiation of operational activities and the degree of functional concentration to some extent inhibit the realisation and implementation of innovations.

4.4 Additional findings

As previously was introduced, the qualitative research method as chosen in this thesis allows for unexpected and additional findings to occur in analysis. These findings do not directly apply to the constructs as operationalised, yet provide some complementary insights. This section discusses the main results of these additional findings.

In paragraph 4.2, the distinction between two objects of research regarding organisational activities was discussed. As one object was chosen as central object for analysis, this paragraph will discuss findings that regard the second object, which is the broad organisational process based on the project management cycle. This paragraph starts by discussing the relationship between the organisational structure and innovative behaviour as analysed on the level of the project management cycle. Afterwards, other additional findings are discussed.

Preparatory activities of the event in its entirety start approximately half a year in advance of the event. These preparations initially start at the level of the office. Coordinators are involved later on, usually when their expertise or ideas on a certain topic of innovation is required. An important moment in time is the permit deadline, eight weeks in advance of the event. Once this moment is reached, the majority of the event is set:

"At this time, [...] a blueprint of the entire event should be available. [a coordinator] who will be doing the same as last year, won't be involved until that point. [...] and in the period of minus 8 weeks until 0, me and the coordinator look at [...] how to translate the tactical into the operational." (PMO)

At eight weeks in advance of the event, the coordinator gains an increasingly important role to ensure that all practical details are prepared. In earlier preparation however, the role of the coordination areas is limited. As mentioned earlier in the chapter, the majority of the more impactful and coordination area-transcending innovative ideas are introduced by the office and board. Previously it was argued that this seems to have a structural cause, as the office and board have a coordination area transcending role. However, a structural cause of this limited innovative behaviour of voluntary members can also be found when analysing the organisation on the level of the project management cycle. The majority of major developments are determined in an early stage of preparation of the event. As only the board members and office employees are involved in this early stage, radical innovative ideas are introduced only by them. They tend to involve relevant coordinators for input on practical implications, but only after the idea already has been generated. This was found during one of the interviews:

"Based on evaluations, we [=office] check whether we want to change things, we are both initiators and executors. [...] The coordinators are involved in a much later stadium. Those guys really aren't looking at the new event at that point in time." (PMO)

The volunteers are allowed to bring in radical innovative ideas, but due to the voluntary character of their involvement, the amount of time they spend on the event outside of their regular tasks is limited:

"At a certain point, you stop trying to change large aspects, because in the end you are a volunteer. The intensity of thinking about the organisation... we do it because we enjoy it, but there is a limit to that extent [...] in the end the office has to decide what they want to do with it. I would like to be more involved, but I am a volunteer[...]" (CL)

A similar argument was made by respondent CP:

"You know, it is a side job for us. Often, other areas are working on innovations and you really have to be up to date to think about that. Therefore, you decide to stay out of it and to focus on things that are important for your part. You don't have the time to spend hours on other coordination areas." (CP)

The organisation tries to tackle this by organising meetings to discuss potential ideas for change. For example, at a brainstorm session for the Mini Zevenheuvelenloop, two coordinators of the Start-Finish area were also present as it partly involved their area of coordination.

As introduced in previous paragraphs, when discussing the division of regulatory capacity into aspects for the executional organisational process, no clear conclusions regarding strategic regulation were found. However, when assessing the organisational process based on the project management cycle, other insights on the division of regulatory capacity can be found. Strategic regulation on the level of the project management cycle generally takes place in the initiation and planning phase of the event, as this is when major decisions regarding the event are made. The quotation below explains how these strategic decisions are made:

"Once we at the office decide what we want to change strategically, we eventually involve the coordinator for the translation to practical implications. [...] We ask for input when we think it is useful. The board and the office provide ideas on strategic changes. Once we agree on the direction, we invite the coordinator to discuss how to design it operationally." (PMO)

As coordination areas have a limited role in the (re-)formulation of goals of the event and the way the organisational infrastructure is designed to achieve them, they have a limited role in the innovation and development of these goals and design.

To summarise, the lack of involvement of voluntary members in early stages of the organisational process from the perspective of the project management cycle results in a low amount of radical innovation initiated by voluntary members. More specifically, the differentiation of operational activities, division of regulatory capacity to aspects, and separation between operational- and control activities in the broader organisational process results in reduced opportunity exploration and idea generation of voluntary members regarding radical innovations.

In addition to these findings on the relationship between organisational structure and innovative behaviour using the perspective of the project management cycle, one final finding should be discussed.

61

When discussing functional concentration in paragraph 4.2, it was mentioned that issues caused by the high value of this parameter were partly negated due to experience of most volunteers. However, relying on experienced volunteers brings potential risks for the organisation, as explained below:

"You often see that coordinators who are very committed, get involved more. [...] We really do lean on those coordinators, we give them a lot of freedom but we also expect a lot of them. [...] It is great that they are very enthusiastic, but we also tend to ask those involved people for the other events as well. And if someone then leaves, that means that we have to find three people for the three events. It is a risk for the organisation because a lot of knowledge and experience can leave at once." (PMO)

Another downside to the fact that experiences helps to interact smoothly, is that less experienced coordinators sometimes find it a bit more difficult. The organisation tries to counter this by asking current coordinators to let them know a year in advance if they want to quit. This way, this year can be used to train a new coordinator. In addition, the foundation is aiming to improve structured documentation, to ensure that new coordinators have better material to get familiar with the way the organisation operates. Yet the issue of lost knowledge and experience when a coordinator leaves remains.

4.5 Diagnostic conclusion

To adequately diagnose the current innovative behaviour, organisational structure, and their relation, the previous section discussed the findings of eleven semi-structured interviews, analysed based on a deductive operationalisation and coding plan. This paragraph briefly summarises the main findings of the diagnosis, which can be used as input for the redesign phase.

Regarding innovative behaviour, five dimensions were distinguished. Within the voluntary organisational layers of the Zevenheuvelenloop, mainly the coordinators and sub-coordinators were the most involved in innovative activities. For the daily volunteers, the degree of innovative behaviour seemed dependent on the complexity of their tasks and their general experience and involvement in the organisation. One of the dimensions, idea promotion, seemed to be of little relevance within the research. Idea promotion generally is required to

ensure that an idea, once expressed, is also understood and supported by other organisational members. This way, it can reach the right people in the organisation, so that implementation can occur. Idea promotion thus is required to overcome barriers related to organisational politics and power (Messmann & Mulder, 2012). Due to the open and flexible character of the organisation in which innovations and ideas are encouraged, this phase of innovative behaviour is perceived not to be required by organisational members. Due to the inherent limits of voluntary work, coordinators and sub-coordinators were perceived to perform the other four dimensions of innovative behaviour solely for the coordination area they are active in. Regarding the role of the voluntary members of the organisation, opportunity exploration on other organisational areas and idea generation for radical innovations seemed very limited.

With regards to organisational structure, mainly the parameters regarding functional concentration, differentiation of operational activities, and separation of operational- and regulatory activities are high. The former two, which are related to the operational processes of the event, have high values due to the large amount of interactions between coordination areas and the inherent differentiation of preparatory-, supporting-, and executional activities. However, the negative effects of these high values seem to be negated by the flexible and enthusiastic culture in the organisations, in which the volunteers strive to bring the event to the best possible result.

Additionally, the parameter division of regulatory capacity into aspects was perceived as high as coordination areas have a limited involvement in the early stages of the organisation of the event. With this regard, strategic regulation was separated from operational regulation. This division is partly responsible for the limited innovative behaviour that coordinators and subcoordinators perform regarding activities outside of their own span of control.

The relationship between organisational structure and innovative behaviour was found to some extent. In the executional process, the high degree of functional concentration and differentiation of operational activities result in low opportunity exploration and idea generation of voluntary members outside of the particular coordination areas in which they are active. The implementation and realisation of innovations are sometimes inhibited by the organisational structure as interaction-related problems occur within coordination areas. This is due to the finding that within coordination areas, coordinators are a lot more involved in preparatory activities compared to sub-coordinators, and especially in comparison to daily volunteers. On

the broader analysis level of the project management cycle, the limited involvement of voluntary layers in early preparatory activities results in low amounts of radical innovation initiated by voluntary members.

5. Redesign

As previously announced, this chapter will propose a redesign of the organisational structure of the Zevenheuvelenloop, based on sociotechnical redesign theory and the input as derived from the diagnosis. As is argued by Achterbergh and Vriens (2019), input of organisational members is of high importance when composing a redesign of an organisational structure. Thus, a focus group was conducted, of which the summary can be found in appendix C.

In chapter 2, the sociotechnical design sequence was introduced. This design sequence will serve as structure for the upcoming paragraphs. This means that first, the redesign of the production structure is discussed from macro- to micro level. Although the design sequence suggests that after this step the control structure is designed from micro- to macro level, the decision is made to combine these three levels in one section as the urgency for redesigning the control structure was perceived to be a lot lower than is the case for the production structure.

As discussed in the diagnosis, two parameter values were perceived as high: functional concentration and differentiation of operational activities. During the focus group, the findings of the diagnosis were discussed. The participants of the focus group agreed with the findings as presented, although it was notable that the interactions between coordination areas were perceived as an organisational strength by participants. They argued that the interactions between coordination areas went smoothly and allowed for coordinators to have a broader organisational perspective, as they were forced to look beyond their own coordination area for these interactions.

When redesigning the structure, one of the starting points is to design a structure that lowers these parameter values. However, the redesign should also take the other parameters into account, to prevent the values of these parameters to increase drastically. Otherwise, new structural problems can occur (Kuipers, van Amelsvoort, & Kramer, 2018) and the practical value of the redesign is rendered less valuable or even useless. This was taken into account when redesigning the organisational structure.

5.1 Production structure

5.1.1 Production structure: Macro

Kuipers, Van Amelsvoort, and Kramer (2018) explain that at macro level, the goal is to create parallel flows with homogeneous order types. The authors introduce several ways to parallelise operational activities into homogeneous units. Two of the more relevant general directions for a design on macro level are discussed. Firstly, parallelising based on order types. Secondly, parallelising based on geographic features. Within the Zevenheuvelenloop-event as a whole, distinct sub-events can be identified. During the Zevenheuvelenloop weekend, the following events take place: Zevenheuvelennacht, Mini Zevenheuvelenloop, Zevenheuvelenloop, and the exposition. These sub-events can be considered ordertypes within the boundary of the Zevenheuvelenloop as a whole. However, redesigning the production structure by making each sub-event an independent flow brings a lot of practical issues. The participants of the focus group swiftly rejected this proposition. As was argued by one of the participants:

"These events have a lot in common. The Zevenheuvelennacht and Zevenheuvelenloop share parts of the parcours, so that is an issue. [...] you don't want to reinvent the wheel everytime for each activity."

As participants argued, creating independent flows based on the sub-events would cause inefficiency, tasks being done multiple times unnecessarily and a lot of new interactions due to geographical overlap. Additionally, the Zevenheuvelenloop has a lot more participants than the other sub-events, which results in one flow being excessively larger in comparison to the others.

The second design proposal on macro level is to parallelise based on geographic features. In this redesign proposal, independent macro flows are created based on the location of clustered activities. One of the large current coordination areas is the Start/Finish area, which currently contains several sub-coordination areas. This Start/Finish coordination area can be seen as one geographic hotspot. In addition, the exposition, locations, the Mini Zevenheuvelenloop and the Parcours could be separate macro flows. When comparing this design proposal to the current organogram, it can be concluded that these five clusters are already distinct coordination areas. On a macro level, these current coordination areas thus are divided efficiently. This was supported by the focus group participants, who argued that these current output-based coordination areas were an efficient way of clustering activities. An overview of these flows is provided in figure 5 below.



Figure 5: Proposed macro redesign

However, as previously discussed, the current organisational structure contains a lot of supportive coordination areas as well. As Kuipers, Van Amelsvoort, and Kramer (2018) argue, flows on macro level should be enabled to perform as many supportive and preparatory activities themselves, to restrict the amount of interactions between flows. This could be solved by accommodating these supportive coordination areas within the clusters of output-oriented activities. As this involves segmentation of activities within the parallelised flows on macro level, this will further be elaborated in the upcoming section on meso level.

5.1.2 Production structure: Meso & Micro

Kuipers, Van Amelsvoort, and Kramer (2018) argue that within the parallel flows on macro level, segments on meso level might be required. The general notion of creating units that operate as independently as possible still applies. Kuipers, Van Amelsvoort, and Kramer (2018) introduce several distinct ways of creating segments within the flows on macro level. To ensure a degree of independence, parallel task groups can be created. This however is dependent on the size of the macro flow. For example, in the current structure, the coordination area of Start-Finish is divided into five sub-coordination areas. These sub-coordination areas are functioning relatively independently, each with their own sub-coordinator to monitor and perform operational regulation. As the focus group participants argue that these current sub-coordination areas are functioning efficiently and the diagnosis did not uncover any problems related to the sub-coordination areas as already present. However, as previously discussed, macro units preferably have their own supportive- and preparatory activities within the unit. The current organisational structure has several functional coordination areas that provide supportive services for all coordination areas. These areas are Electricity, Safety, Logistics, Connections, Signs, Mobility, and Environment. Based on the ideas of Kuipers, Van Amelsvoort, and Kramer (2018) on redesigning the production structure, the proposition was made to divide these organisation-wide supportive clusters of activities into smaller, specialised supportive clusters. For example, the coordination area of Start/Finish would, in addition to the current five sub-coordination areas, also contain a sub-coordination area for Logistics, a sub-coordination area for Electricity, etcetera.

The participants of the focus group agreed that this potentially could decrease the amount of interactions and help to make the execution of the event more efficient. However, several valid remarks were made regarding this redesign.

Firstly, it was argued that not all supportive coordination areas should be segmented per outputbased coordination area, as some supportive areas require specialised knowledge or are too complex in nature. As a participant of the focus group argued:

"Electricity requires very specific expertise, currently there is one person who knows exactly how it works. If you need different people for the areas or you have to rearrange the system, that would not work"

Due to the required in-depth understanding and degree of specialism that is not generally accessible, it thus seems beneficial not to segment Electricity. With regards to the latter, the example of Signs was proposed as it was argued that the signs system is too complex and requires very precise interactions, which also makes it unsuitable for segmentation. On the other hand, Logistics and Environment are considered as appropriate supportive clusters to be segmented into the output-based flows. These supportive tasks could be well suited to be segmented into coordination areas as they require particular knowledge of the coordination area, but are not complex or specialised in nature. For Logistics, for example, it is crucial that

the right supplies are delivered at the right place at the right time. Having a Logistics coordinator who can arrange this specifically for, for example, the Parcours, would allow for manageable logistics and would decrease potential errors. Also, the interaction network is decreased as these Logistics coordinators are within the workplaces. Figure 6 provides an overview of the structure as proposed, including the segmented supportive activities on meso level. These segmented supportive activities regard those that can be segmented. Others, such as for example Electricity, will not be segmented into the flows.



Figure 6: Proposed macro and meso redesign

With regard to the meso level, it can be concluded that it potentially is beneficial to segment certain supportive clusters of activities within the flows. Especially Logistics and Environment are potential candidates to do so. As the focus group argues, implementing the segmentations one cluster of activities at a time would be an adequate way of finding out which supportive clusters are beneficial to segment. Although ideally it is encouraged to segment all supportive clusters of activities into the flows, the theory also states that this should be done given the

limitations of organisational circumstances (Kuipers, Van Amelsvoort & Kramer, 2018). Due to the event-based nature of the organisation, certain interdependencies will always remain.

If sufficient clusters of supportive activities can be segmented within the flows, it might be beneficial to have a facilitative sub-coordinator alongside the general coordinator of the coordination area. This facilitative sub-coordinator would be responsible for coordinating the supportive clusters of activities and would interact with the supportive coordination areas that could not be segmented into the flows. This idea is supported by the focus group, who argue that this would also relieve the coordinators, who often deal with a lot of work. Additionally, on a micro level, the composition of supportive teams will differ from the current structure. Specifically, the supportive clusters that are segmented into the flows will be smaller, as the amount of tasks per specialised cluster decreases.

5.2 Control structure

The control structure is concerned with disturbances that occur in the production structure and how to avoid, solve, or attenuate them (Kuipers, Van Amelsvoort & Kramer 2018). The general notion for the control structure is that these acts of dealing with disturbances can be done locally as much as possible.

As was found in the diagnosis of the operational process on the level of the project management cycle, workplaces generally have a lot of operational regulatory capacity, as sub-coordinators and coordinators often can solve problems that occur in their coordination area themselves, or by consulting office members. Regulation by design and strategic regulation in the broader process currently are intentionally designed at the office. The basis of this decision can be found in the voluntary nature of the workplaces. Although the sociotechnical theory on redesigning organisations suggests that strategic regulation and regulation by design should be placed in workplaces as much as possible, this is once again given organisational circumstances. The voluntary nature of the workplaces limits the possibilities to do so. However, involving workplaces in strategic regulation and regulation by design is encouraged. Currently, the Zevenheuvelenloop strives to do so, for example by involving relevant coordinators in a brainstorm session on redesigning the organisation of the Mini Zevenheuvelenloop. This involvement can also be facilitated for topics that transcend coordination areas, by sending a

general invitation to all coordinators and sub-coordinators. This way, the coordinators and subcoordinators who are interested in participating and providing input can respond, and those who are too busy or are not interested can pass.

In the focus group, this was considered a good method to allow the organisation to benefit from the ideas and experience of volunteers without giving them additional fixed tasks. As was argued, not all volunteers are interested in these topics.

5.3 Additional suggestions

In addition to these redesign topics directly related to the production- and control structure, additional suggestions for improvement are discussed below.

With regards to innovations, the participants of the focus group argue that evaluations have a crucial role. The participants agreed that evaluations provide a major source of inspiration and ideas for improvements and innovations. To stimulate innovation, an optimal way of evaluating is required. Currently, sub-coordinators make an evaluation which they deliver to the coordinator. The coordinator combines the evaluations with his own and discusses it with the office. The sub-coordinator is not notified on the results and improvements based on the evaluations until briefly before the start of the new event. During the focus group, it was argued that sub-coordinators should be involved in this process a lot more. To do so, the proposition is made that the sub-coordinators and coordinators of specific areas meet within a few days after the event to evaluate together. To allow for as minimal loss of evaluation information as possible, the idea is proposed to create a digital tool in which coordination areas are allowed to share pictures, clips, short videos and captions of evaluation points during the event. This serves as a useful way of storing the information during the event, which can be used as input directly after the event.

Currently, there are two meetings in advance of the event in which coordinators and office members come together to share updates and developments. During the focus group, it was argued that sub-coordinators should be informed better on the outcomes of these coordinator-meetings and be more involved in these earlier stages of preparation. Involving sub-coordinators earlier on and allowing them to provide input allows for more motivation among sub-coordinators. Additionally, as both sub-coordinators and coordinators are involved in early
preparatory stages of the event, a more radically innovative initiative is stimulated in comparison to the current structure, in which only coordinators are involved in the early coordinators-meeting. Thirdly, involving sub-coordinators earlier in the process and keeping them better informed allows for a smoother implementation of innovations. Currently, these innovations are designed by the office with input of coordinators. The coordinators then have to make the translation to the practical implications, which they have to explain to the sub-coordinators. If sub-coordinators are involved in the design of the innovations, less extensive translation is required and thus, risk of potential errors with this regard are decreased. As the focus group argues, the current first coordinators-meeting is more of a 'wake up we are going to get started'-meeting than an actual opportunity to think of innovative possibilities. It is thus suggested to encourage sub-coordinators and coordinators of distinguished areas to have a meeting at the start of the preparations of the new event, instead of only involving coordinators.

As was discussed in the diagnosis, it is notable that coordinators and sub-coordinators are mainly occupied with incremental innovations within their own coordination area. In the section on control structure, it was argued that coordinators should also be involved in strategic regulation and regulation by design. In addition to this, it is proposed that more non-obligated brainstorm sessions and focus groups on topics of innovation are organised, in which coordinators and sub-coordinators can voice their ideas or opinions on topics that are not (or partially) related to their coordination area. Once again, the participants of the focus group added that this should be without obligation, as not all coordinators and sub-coordinators feel the need to contemplate aforementioned topics of discussion.

6. Conclusion, Discussion & Recommendations

As the analysis of both diagnosis and redesign have been discussed, this chapter will provide a conclusion of the research and its most notable findings. After this conclusion, the limitations of the choices made in this research are discussed. Lastly, remarks are made on the implications of the findings with regards to theory as well as practical implications for Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop to consider. Additionally, suggestions for further research in related directions are discussed.

6.1 Conclusion

The aim of this thesis was to gain insights into innovative behaviour, organisational structure and the relationship between these concepts within the Zevenheuvelenloop. Additionally, based on these diagnostic insights, a redesign of the organisational structure of the Zevenheuvelenloop to improve innovative behaviour was made. This twofold goal resulted in the following research question:

What is the relation between organisational structure and innovative behaviour within the Zevenheuvelenloop, and how can the structure be redesigned to improve innovative behaviour?

For the diagnosis of innovative behaviour within the Zevenheuvelenloop, the theory on innovative work behaviour as developed by Messmann and Mulder (2012) was used. To assess the organisational structure, the sociotechnical perspective on organisational design was used. Sociotechnical insights were also applied to redesign the structure in order to improve innovative behaviour within the Zevenheuvelenloop.

To properly answer this research question, the following sub-questions were formulated:

- 1. What does the current innovative behaviour within the Zevenheuvelenloop look like?
- 2. What is the relationship between organisational structure and innovative behaviour within the Zevenheuvelenloop?
- *3. How can the organisational structure of the Zevenheuvelenloop be redesigned to increase innovative behaviour?*

To study this, a qualitative research strategy was chosen based on a deductive research approach. For data collection during the diagnosis phase, eleven semi-structured interviews were conducted. Additionally, a focus group was conducted to collect data for the redesign.

In the diagnosis, it became apparent that the degree of innovative behaviour differs per organisational layer. With regards to the three layers of volunteers, a relation between involvement in the organisation and the degree to which the person was engaged in innovative behaviour became clear. Mainly the coordinators, who generally are the most involved volunteers in the event, showed characteristics of innovative behaviour. It is important to note that this innovative behaviour was mainly regarding the coordination area in which the coordinator is active, and less with regards to area transcending innovations. Sub-coordinators also engage in innovative behaviour, although to a lesser degree than coordinators due to lesser involvement in organisational activities. Daily volunteers hardly engage in innovative behaviour were seldom mentioned. The cause of this can be assigned to the voluntary nature of the organisation and the culture in which input of volunteers and creativity is stimulated, reducing barriers and organisational politics.

Analysing the organisational structure, high values were found with regards to functional concentration and differentiation of operational activities. Although the potential problems of functional concentration and differentiation of operational activities were largely negated by the flexibility and experience of coordinators and sub-coordinators, the high values of these aforementioned parameters seem partly responsible for the limited innovative behaviour of volunteers outside of their own span of control. Specifically, opportunity exploration and idea generation is limited to incremental innovations within a voluntary member's own coordination area, as this is the organisational part they are involved in due to the organisational structure. Additionally, the lack of involvement of voluntary members in early stages of the organisational process from the perspective of the project management cycle results in a low amount of radical innovation initiated by voluntary members. Lastly, issues in idea realisation tend to occur due to late involvement of certain members within coordination areas, specifically a late involvement of sub-coordinators and daily volunteers in the operational process. It is notable in this research that the inherent characteristics of volunteers inhibit the extent to which

parameters can be lowered, as volunteers have limited time capacity and interest to perform organisational activities. However, some improvements can be generated.

To propose a solution to aforementioned issues, a focus group was conducted. With regards to functional concentration, it is proposed to parallelise five output-based coordination areas based on geographic distinction: Start/Finish, Parcours, Mini Zevenheuvelenloop, Locations, and Expo. Within these five flows, the current supportive coordination areas should be segmented as sub-coordination areas as much as possible. However, due to the event-based nature of the activities, it is yet to be decided which supportive coordination areas are suited to be segmented into the flows. Arguably, the areas of Logistics and Environment are qualified contenders. Additionally, the introduction of a facilitative sub-coordinator per flow who is responsible for interaction with supportive clusters of activities could help relieve the coordinators of extra work and increase clear and fast communication.

Additionally, it is proposed that coordinators and sub-coordinators are actively invited to help with the initiation of radical innovations, by inviting them to brainstorm-based sessions early on in the organisational process of the event. This way, coordinators and sub-coordinators can voice their ideas, allowing for better idea generation within the Zevenheuvelenloop. Sub-coordinators should also be involved in the preparatory stages earlier on, by organising start-up meetings per coordination areas in which coordinators and sub-coordinators come together to think about plans for the upcoming event. This is also expected to increase commitment, according to the focus group.

Thirdly, the evaluation process should occur more shortly after the event and in group-meetings, in which coordinators and sub-coordinators meet with their coordination area-colleagues to discuss evaluation topics. Additionally, a (digital) tool could be used for better recording and storing of evaluative information.

6.2 Limitations

By conducting research, one is bound to making methodological, theoretical, and analytical decisions. Although it is tried to make the decisions that allow for the best quality of research possible, all decisions inherently bring limitations to the research. It is important to discuss these limitations as they provide context, allow for an interpretation of the validity and an

assessment of the credibility of the conducted research (Ioannidis, 2007). Therefore, this section discusses the limitations based on three aforementioned categories: methodological, theoretical, and analytical.

6.2.1 Methodological

As mentioned, eleven interviews were conducted among all organisational layers. This way, a full overview among the layers could be gained. Although sufficient saturation is perceived to be achieved, the interviews were conducted with only three different coordination areas. Additionally, within coordination areas, only one member per layer was interviewed. As the interviews did not contradict each other, no immediate urge for additional interviews was deemed necessary. However, it can be argued that generalisation of the results to the entire organisation of the event can only be done to a limited extent.

For the analysis of the diagnosis, quotations of respondents were used to substantiate argumentations with objective data. However, as this thesis is written in English and the interviews were conducted in Dutch, these quotations are translated. This translation could possibly result in misunderstanding or misinterpretation of data.

The focus group consisted of six participants and the researcher, who had a facilitative role. Three of the participants are active in the same coordination area, of which two are coordinators. This composition was chosen due to practical limitations. Having a relatively low variety of organisational members reduces the extent to which the results of the focus group are generalisable over the event as a whole. However, given that some of the topics of discussion in the focus group required personal opinions rather than ideas from an organisational member perspective (e.g. the extent to which volunteers are willing to engage in initiating and developing radical innovations), this is not perceived as a very substantial issue. For the results of the redesign, in contrast to the results of the diagnosis, the decision was made not to include quotations of the focus group.

To increase dependability, during the entire research process, fellow scholars were informed and up to date on the research process and most major decisions were made in consultation with fellow scholars. However, as these fellow scholars were not present during the interviews and focus group, the validity of the conducted interviews and focus group are solely based on the capabilities of the researcher.

With regards to generalisability, the three events of Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop tend to have a lot in common regarding process, structure, culture, and people. This was substantiated during several interviews, in which respondents explained that they have organisational roles during the other events as well and have similar experiences there. It can thus be argued that the results as found with regards to the Zevenheuvelenloop specifically are to a great extent applicable to the Marikenloop and Stevensloop as well.

6.2.2 Theoretical

As a deductive research approach was chosen, existing theory served as a basis for both diagnosis and redesign. This thesis contains two central concepts, for each of which a theory was chosen for operationalisation and analysis. Innovative behaviour was measured using theory on innovative work behaviour as developed by Messmann and Mulder (2012). Although the decision to use this theory as central framework was made after thorough research and this research is considered an extension of previous research on innovative behaviour, no certainty can be given that this theory forms the best basis for measuring innovative behaviour. Additional limitations regarding this theory arise as the theory was directed at employees, not at volunteers. It is unclear to what extent the inherent characteristics of volunteers have an impact on the applicability of the theory. Comparably, as the theory does not specify sectors or types of organisations on which it applicable, it is unclear to what extent it is fully compatible with sports-event organisations.

Additionally, practical issues arose as the items of the initial operationalisation had to be transformed into a semi-structured interview format and translation from English to Dutch was required. This transformation and translation could result in reduced construct validity. Additionally, the only tests on reliability and validity were conducted by Messmann and Mulder (2012) themselves, which brings ethical considerations to a critical mind.

Similar considerations exist with regards to the sociotechnical design perspective of De Sitter (2000). The decision for this design perspective was based on the given that it provides a detailed and applicable operationalisation of organisational structures. Additionally, the

sociotechnical theory acknowledges and discerns the diagnosis and redesign phase and provides practical guidelines for both phases. However, no specifications of the applications of the sociotechnical perspective to event-based organisations have yet been made. Moreover, no previous applications of the sociotechnical theory on volunteers in organisations have been recorded. Both these characteristics of this case specifically require additional analytic consideration of the researcher of this thesis, in comparison to the application of the theory on more traditional organisations with fixed employees. Another remark on the sociotechnical perspective is that it advocates to take an integral perspective of organisations. This entails that one should look at the organisation as a whole. For this research, due to practical constraints and limited time, only one of three events was considered an object of research.

As discussed, a deductive research approach was chosen. Given the application of both theories to a novel type of organisation, it can be argued that the deductive approach is less relevant as this research approach usually applies best to testing existing theories. A new organisational context requires a more exploratory character. Choosing deductive research approach regardless thus can be seen as a limitation of this research. The choice for deductive research approach however can be substantiated as the theories and case are perceived to have sufficient common ground and the deductive research approach allows for a structured and systematic analysis.

6.2.3 Analytical

In this thesis, two objects of research could be distinguished based on operational processes. One regards the organisational process that takes up roughly two months around the event, in which voluntary members are involved in operational activities and most preparations on how the event should take place have been done. Therefore, this process is mainly related to implementing innovations and executing the event, based on plans that are made in advance. The other process takes a broader scope as this comprises a wider range of organisational activities that relate to the achievement of organisational goals. This second process follows the full project management cycle instead of implementation-related activities. As was previously argued, the analysis in this thesis is mainly built around the former operational process, as the voluntary members of the organisation are more involved in this process. However, from an analytical point of view, an argument can be made that the broader object should be central in this thesis. This would be in line with the sociotechnical design perspective as it advocates an integral organisational perspective. In other words, to capture a full image of the structural aspects of organising the event, all activities should be taken in account and not just implementation-related activities. The decision to make the smaller organisational process central in this thesis can thus be seen as an analytical limitation.

Similarly to the remarks made on the limited dependability with regards to the conduction of interviews and the focus group as discussed in the previous paragraph, no fellow scholars aided in the coding and analysis of both interviews and focus group. Therefore, the quality of the coding and analysis are dependent on the capabilities of the researcher.

6.3 Implications & directions for further research

6.3.1 Theoretical implications

Although the goal of this thesis is practice-based, the extensive use of theory and the deductive research approach allow for contribution to current academic theories in several ways.

Generally, the increase in sports-related events and, in particular, running events, results in increased academic attention to the industry (Masterman, 2014; Parent & Smith-Swan, 2013). However, little academic contribution on organisational structure in sports events is known. As organisational structure can impact the way the organisation operates severely, structuring events-organisations seems important to research. Additionally, despite a lot of research being done on volunteers in sports events with regards to commitment and economic profits, little is known on the role of volunteers in organisational innovation. As events often strive to be innovative (Lockstone-Binney, Robertson, & Junek, 2013), the role of volunteers in this seems to be a gap that is worthy of more research. This research shines a light on both structuring event-organisations as well as the role of volunteers enabling innovations to occur in eventorganisations. Additionally, it provides insights on the relation between organisational structure and innovative behaviour as performed by volunteers. As discussed, innovative behaviour of volunteers requires academic attention due to its impact and potential value for sports events and event organisations in general. As the results of this thesis indicate a strong relation between organisational structure and innovative behaviour on some aspects, this thesis provides valuable insight on innovative behaviour and how to improve it.

This research builds on the sociotechnical design perspective as developed by De Sitter (2000) a few ways. Although the sociotechnical design perspective provides a clear roadmap on how organisational structures can be diagnosed and redesigned based on seven parameters, a practical operationalisation of these parameters was lacking. This research provides an operationalisation and a semi-structured interview format, to be used in other research. It is recommended however that this operationalisation is to be tested regarding validity and reliability before actually applying it in other researches. Additionally, the sociotechnical design perspective is generally applied to traditional, often bureaucratic, organisations that use fixed employees. This research extends the application of the sociotechnical perspective and contributes to insights on how this design perspective can be used both in event-industry organisations as well as voluntary organisations. As little academic knowledge is available both on designing event-organisations and voluntary organisations, this research provides valuable insights.

With regards to innovative behaviour, similar remarks can be made as this research contributes theoretically by extending the theory as proposed by Messmann and Mulder (2012), as it is applied specifically on volunteers and in an event-organisation context. This application to a new subject as well as a new industry allows for new insights on innovative behaviour. Additionally, as previously only survey items of innovative behaviour were available, this research contributes to academic society as it includes an semi-structured interview format on innovative behaviour that can be applied in several contexts. Once again, it is advised that this interview format is tested on validity before applying it widely.

6.3.2 Managerial implications

As this research is aimed at diagnosing and redesigning the structure of the Zevenheuvelenloop specifically, the results have several managerial implications for the Zevenheuvelenloop, Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop as a whole, and the sport-events- and general events industries.

Firstly, with regards to the Zevenheuvelenloop, an in-depth diagnosis and redesign are proposed in this thesis. The diagnosis shows the current state of organisational structure and its influence on innovative behaviour within the event, including the aspects that currently work well or induce problems. Although this research used these diagnostic insights to develop a redesign, Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop can use these insights to better understand the way their organisational structure and its influence on innovative behaviour works. Additionally, they are enabled to come up with their own improvements based on the diagnosis.

As the redesign as developed is a tailored proposition for improvement for the Zevenheuvelenloop, it provides Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop with a clear idea on possibilities to solve the issues as diagnosed. As previously argued, diagnosing and redesign are the first two stages of the intervention cycle (Achterbergh & Vriens, 2019). Implementation and reflection are not included in this research due to time constraints. However, Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop is advised to consider the diagnosis and redesign and make an assessment of whether- and how- to implement the propositions. Some suggestions for improvement as discussed in the redesign are perceived to be easier to implement than others. For example, the ideas on evaluation of the event might be relatively easy to try and implement, while the segmentation of certain supportive coordination areas into the flows brings more organisational implications.

Previously, remarks on generalisability were made regarding Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop as a whole. As argued, the Marikenloop and Alfa Laval Stevensloop have a lot of similarities to the Zevenheuvelenloop. Additionally, several organisational members have experience and knowledge of multiple of the events. Stichting Zevenheuvelenloop is strongly advised to also apply the above-mentioned suggestions to use the diagnosis and redesign to their other two events. To do so, firstly they should assess whether differences between the events would affect the extent to which the propositions are applicable.

Lastly, the results of this thesis are to some extent perceived to be generalisable to the runningevents industry and events industry in general. The diagnosis provided in-depth insights on innovative behaviour of volunteers within this specific event. As can be argued that characteristics of volunteers share similarities across different events, these insights on innovative behaviour might provide other events organisations with valuable insights they can apply to their own organisations. As thick descriptions were provided as much as possible in this thesis, managers of other events organisations are enabled to make their own assessment of the extent to which the results of this research are valuable and applicable to their cases. Similar suggestions apply to the way managers of events organisations can use the insights on the relation between organisational structure and innovative behaviour as provided by this 81 thesis. Lastly, the proposed ideas on redesigning the Zevenheuvelenloop can potentially also be applied to other organisations by their managers.

6.3.3 Directions for further research

Although deductive researches usually test current theories, this research also provides some new insights. These insights are mainly related to the industry and type of organisational members to which the research applies. Additionally, this research further explores the relationship between organisational structure and innovative behaviour. Directions for further research can be derived from these insights.

Firstly, as argued, innovation plays a major role in sports-events and the event-industry in general. Finding ways to allow for innovation to occur thus is a valuable academic direction. To do so, it is suggested that more research on innovative behaviour in event-organisations is conducted. As this thesis found sufficient indicators of a relationship between organisational structure and innovative behaviour in one event within one event-organisation, it is strongly recommended that this relationship is investigated more substantially, across different eventorganisations. This way, generalisability increases and better conclusions on the relationship can be made. Additionally, as organisational structure impacts not only innovative behaviour but generally impacts the way an organisational operates on several aspects, it is recommended that more research on organisational structure of event-organisations is conducted. Lastly, as previously mentioned, volunteers have an increasingly important role in event-organisations. To this end, understanding volunteers and their role in the organisation seems crucial to deploy them effectively. Therefore, it is advised that more research on the role of volunteers in organisations and their influence in organisational development is conducted, in the eventindustry as well as other industries. This is in line with recommendations of Hoeber and Hoeber (2012), who argue that the role of volunteers in the innovation process has been researched too little and requires more academic research.

References

Achterbergh, J., & Vriens, D. (2010). *organizations: Social Systems Conducting Experiments* (2nd ed.). New York City, United States: Springer Berlin Heidelberg.

Achterbergh, J., & Vriens, D. (2019). *organizational Development: Designing Episodic Interventions* (1ste editie). Abingdon, Verenigd Koninkrijk: Routledge.

Amabile, T. M. (1988). A model of creativity and innovation in organizations. In B. M. Staw & L. L. Cummings (Eds.), Research in organizational behaviour (Vol. 10, pp. 187–209). Greenwich, CT: JAI.

Ashkenas, R. (1998). Real innovation knows no boundaries. The Journal for Quality and Participation, 21(6), 34–38

Anderson, N., Potočnik, K., & Zhou, J. (2014). Innovation and creativity in organizations: A state-of-the-science review, prospective commentary, and guiding framework. *Journal of Management*, 40(5), 1297–1333. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206314527128

Beck, L., Trombetta, W. & Share, S. (1986). Using focus group sessions before decisions are made. North Carolina Medica/Journal, 47(2), 73-74.

Birkinshaw, J., & Duke, L. (2013). Employee-led Innovation. *Business Strategy Review*, 24(2), 46–51. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8616.2013.00947.x

Bleijenbergh, I. (2015). *Kwalitatief onderzoek in organisaties* (2e ed.). Amsterdam, Nederland: Boom.

Burgelman, R.A. & Maidique, M.A. (1988) Strategic Management of Technology and Innovation. Homewood, Illinois: Irwin

Burton, R., Eriksen, B., & Håkonsson, D. (2008). Designing organizations: 21th Century Approaches. Boston: Springer.

Cerinsek, G., & Dolinsek, S. (2009). Identifying employees' innovation competency in organisations. *International Journal of Innovation and Learning*, *6*(2), 164. https://doi.org/10.1504/ijil.2009.022811

Cnaan, R. A., & Cascio, T. A., (1998). Performance and Commitment, Journal of Social Service Research, 24:3-4, 1-37, DOI: 10.1300/J079v24n03_01

Creswell, J. W. (1994). Research design: Qualitative and quantitative approaches. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications

Deakin, H., & Wakefield, K. (2014). Skype interviewing: Reflections of two PhD researchers. Qualitative research, 14 (5), 603-616

De Jong, J. P. J., & Den Hartog, D. N. (2007). How leaders influence employees' innovative behaviour. *European Journal of Innovation Management*, 10(1), 41–64. https://doi.org/10.1108/14601060710720546

De Jong, J.P.J., & Den Hartog, D.N. (2008). Innovative work behaviour: Measurement and validation. *EIM Business and Policy Research*. Working paper, pp3-23.

De Sitter, L.U. (2000). Synergetisch produceren: Human resources mobilisation in de produktie: Een inleiding in structuurbouw (3rd ed.). Assen: van Gorcum.

De Sitter, L.U., Hertog, J., & Dankbaar, B. (1997). From complex organizations with simple jobs to simple organizations with complex jobs. *Human Relations*. 50. 497-534.

Doorewaard, H., & Kil, A. (2015). *Praktijkgericht kwalitatief onderzoek* (1ste editie). Boom Lemma.

Drayton, J.L., Fahad, G.A. & Tynan, A.C. (1989). The focus group: A controversial research technique. Graduate Management Research, Winter, 34-51.

Farr, J. & C. Ford (1990), Individual innovation, In: West, M.A. & J.L. Farr (1990), Innovation and creativity at Work: Psychological and organizational Strategies, Chichester: John Wiley, 63-80.

Fischer, B. D., & Montalbano, N. (2014). Continuous Innovation from All Employees: An Underutilized Font of organizational Improvement . *American Journal of Management*, *14*(3). Derived from http://digitalcommons.www.na-businesspress.com/AJM/FischerB Web14-3.pdf

Fourie, J., & Santana-Gallego, M. (2011). The impact of mega-sport events on tourist arrivals. *Tourism Management*, *32*(6), 1364–1370. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2011.01.011

Galbraith, J. R. (1987). Organization design. In J. W. Lorsch (Ed.). Handbook of organizational behavior (pp. 343-357). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall

Goldman, S., & Kahnweller, W. (2000). A collaborator profile for executives of nonprofit organizations. Nonprofit Management & Leadership, 10(4), 435-450. doi: 10.1002/ nml. 10406

Gratton, C., Dobson, N., & Shibli, S. (2000). The economic importance of major sports events: a case-study of six events. *Managing Leisure*, 5(1), 17–28. https://doi.org/10.1080/136067100375713

Gratton, C., Nichols, G., Shibli, S. & Taylor, P. D. (1996). *Valuing Volunteers in UK Sport*, Spots Council, London.

Greenwell, T. C., Danzey-Bussell, L. A., & Shonk, D. (2014). *Managing Sport Events*. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics.

The Guardian (2013). Are running events an environmental disaster. Derived from https://www.theguardian.com/lifeandstyle/the-running-blog/2013/oct/03/running-events-environmental-disaster

Hakimian, F., Farid, H., Ismail, M. and Nair, P. (2016). Importance of commitment in encouraging employees' innovative behaviour. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Business Administration*, Vol. 8 No. 1, pp. 70-83. https://doi.org/10.1108/APJBA-06-2015-0054

Hammersley, M. (2008). Challenging Relativism. *Qualitative Inquiry*, *15*(1), 3–29. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800408325325

Happy Planet Running. Derived from https://happyplanetrunning.com/

85

Hassanien, A., & Dale, C. (2012). Drivers and barriers of new product development and innovation in event venues. *Journal of Facilities Management*, *10*(1), 75–92. https://doi.org/10.1108/14725961211200414

Hoeber, L., & Hoeber, O. (2012). Determinants of an Innovation Process: A Case Study of Technological Innovation in a Community Sport organization. *Journal of Sport Management*, *26*(3), 213–223. https://doi.org/10.1123/jsm.26.3.213

Ingerson, L. (2001). Comparative economic impacts of arts and sports events. In C. Gratton & I. Henry (Eds.), Sport in the City: The role of sport in economic and social regeneration (pp. 46-59), London: Routledge.

Ioannidis, J.P. (2007). Limitations are not properly acknowledged in the scientific literature. *J Clin Epidemiol.*; 60(4) :324-329. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2006.09.011

Jafri, M. H. (2010). organizational Commitment and Employee's Innovative Behavior: A study in retail sector. *Journal of Management Research*, *10*(1), 62–68.

Kanter, R.M. (1988). When a thousand flowers bloom: structural, collective and social conditions for innovation in organization, *Research in organizational behavior*, 10, 169-211.

Karn, G. N. (1982). Money Talks, a guide to establishing the true dollar value of volunteer time (Part I), *The Journal of Volunteer Administration*, **2**, 1-17.

Karn, G. N. (1983). Money Talks, a guide to establishing the true dollar value of volunteer time (Part II), *The Journal of Volunteer Administration*, **1**, 1-19.

Katz, D. (1964). The motivational basis of organizational behavior. *Behavioral Science*, 9, 131–133.

Kavetsos, G., & Szymanski, S. (2010). National well-being and international sportsevents. JournalofEconomicPsychology, 31(2),https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joep.2009.11.005

Kenny, A. J. (2005). Interaction in cyberspace: an online focus group. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *49*(4), 414-422.

86

Késenne, S. (2005). Do We Need an Economic Impact Study or a Cost-Benefit Analysis of a Sports Event? *European Sport Management Quarterly*, 5(2), 133–142. https://doi.org/10.1080/16184740500188789

Kmet, L. M., Lee, R. C., Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research, Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research, & Cook, L. S. (2004). *Standard Quality Assessment Criteria for Evaluating Primary Research Papers from a Variety of Fields*. Edmonton, Canada: Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research.

L. (1991). Rigor Research: of Krefting, in Qualitative The Assessment Trustworthiness. American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 45(3), 214–222. https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.45.3.214

Kuipers, H., Amelsvoort, P. J. L. M., & Kramer, E. H. (2018). *Het nieuwe organiseren: alternatieven voor de bureaucratie* (3e ed.). Leuven, België: Acco.

Lawson, B., & Samson, D. (2001). Developing innovation capability in organizations: A dynamic capabilities approach. *International Journal of Innovation Management*, 05(03), 377–400. https://doi.org/10.1142/s1363919601000427

Leach, M., Rockström, J., Raskin, P., Scoones, I., Stirling, A. C., Smith, A., & Olsson, P. (2012). Transforming Innovation for Sustainability. *Ecology and Society*, *17*(2). https://doi.org/10.5751/es-04933-170211

Leonard, D. & W. Swap (2005). When sparks fly: harnessing the power of group creativity, Boston: Harvard Business Publishers.

Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic Inquiry. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.

Lockstone-Binney, L., Robertson, M., & Junek, M. R. . a. n. d. . O. (2013). Emerging knowledge and innovation in event management. *International Journal of Event and Festival Management*, *4*(3), 1. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijefm-06-2013-0010

Lo Iacono, V., Symonds, P., & Brown, D. H. (2016). Skype as a tool for qualitative research interviews. Sociological Research Online, 21 (2), 1-15

Lorsch, J. W. (1987). *Handbook of organizational behavior* (2nd ed.). New Jersey, United States: Prentice-Hall.

Maira, A.N. & Thomas, R.J. (1998). Organising on the edge: Meeting the demand for innovation and efficiency. PRISM, Third Quarter, 4–19

Masterman, G. (2014). *Strategic Sports Event Management*. Abingdon, Verenigd Koninkrijk: Taylor & Francis.

Messmann, G., & Mulder, R. H. (2012). Development of a measurement instrument for innovative work behaviour as a dynamic and context-bound construct. *Human Resource Development International*, 15(1), 43–59. https://doi.org/10.1080/13678868.2011.646894

Modig, N. (2007). A continuum of organizations formed to carry out projects: Temporary and stationary organization forms. *International Journal of Project Management*, 25 (8), 807-814.

Mules, T. and Faulkner, B. (1996). An economic perspective on special events. Tourism Economics 14, 314-329.

Mulier Instituut. (2016). *Atletiek in Nederland: Lopen, werpen en springen in beweging*. Derived from https://www.kennisbanksportenbewegen.nl/?file=6252&m=1458217800&action =file.download

Mumford, M. D., & Gustafson, S. B. (1988). Creativity syndrome: Integration, application, and innovation. Psychological Bulletin, 103: 27-43.

Murry, J. W., & Hammons, J. O. (1995). Delphi: A versatile methodology for conducting qualitative research. *The Review of Higher Education*, *18*(4), 423.

Nelson, D. B., & Quick, J. C. (2011). Understanding organizational behavior. Mason, OH: South-Western Cengage Learning.

Newell, S., & Swan, J. (1995). The Diffusion of Innovations in Sport organizations: An Evaluative Framework. *Journal of Sport Management*, 9(3), 317–337. https://doi.org/10.1123/jsm.9.3.317 Nijhof, A., Krabbendam, K., & Looise, J. C. (2002). Innovation through exemptions: building upon the existing creativity of employees. *Technovation*, *22*(11), 675–683. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0166-4972(01)00088-8

NN Zevenheuvelenloop (2020). Derived from https://www.nnzevenheuvelenloop.nl/.

Oldham, G.R. and Cummings, A. (1996). Employee Creativity: Personal and Contextual Factors at Work. *Academy of Management Journal*, 39, 607–34.

Omroep Gelderland (2010). Duurzaamheidsprijs Zevenheuvelenloop. Derived from https://www.omroepgelderland.nl/nieuws/709941/Duurzaamheidsprijs-Zevenheuvelenloop

Orb, A., Eisenhauer, L., & Wynaden, D. (2001). Ethics in Qualitative Research. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 33(1), 93–96. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1547-5069.2001.00093.x

Parent, M. M., & Smith-Swan, S. (2013). *Managing Major Sports Events*. Abingdon, Verenigd Koninkrijk: Routledge.

Pugh, D. S. (1990). organization Theory: Selected Readings (2nd ed.). London, United Kingdom: Penguin.

RTLNieuws. (2019, 27 mei). *De hardloophype: dit jaar meer dan honderd evenementen per maand*. Derived from https://www.rtlnieuws.nl/nieuws/nederland/ artikel/4723976/hardlopen-hardloopwedstrijd-evenement-kaart-rennen-marathon

Runnersworld, 2019). How runners can celebrate earth day every day. Derived from https://www.runnersworld.com/trail-running/a27192211/earth-day/

Runrepeat (2020). Derived from https://runrepeat.com/state-of-running

Seebode, D., Jeanrenaud, S., & Bessant, J. (2012). Managing innovation for sustainability. *R&D Management*, 42(3), 195–206. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9310.2012.00678.x

Shane, S.A. (1994). 'Are champions different from non-champions?', *Journal of Business Venturing*, vol. 9, no. 5, 397-421

Shaw, I. F. (2003). Ethics in Qualitative Research and Evaluation. *Journal of Social Work*, *3*(1), 9–29. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468017303003001002

Sofaer, S. (1999). Qualitative Methods: What Are They and Why Use Them? *Health Service Research*, *34*(5), 1101–1118.

Statista. (2020). Sport Events - Netherlands | Statista Market Forecast. Derived from https://www.statista.com/outlook/272/144/sport-events/netherlands

Symon, G., & Cassell, C. (2012). *Qualitative organizational research: core methods and current challenges*. Sage.

Tonnessen, T. (2005). Continuous innovation through company wide employeeparticipation. TheTQMMagazine, 17(2),195–207.https://doi.org/10.1108/09544780510583254

Truffer, B., & Coenen, L. (2012). Environmental Innovation and Sustainability Transitions in Regional Studies. *Regional Studies*, *46*(1), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/00343404.2012.646164

Van de Ven, A. (1986). Central problems in the management of innovation. *Management Science*, 32: 590-607

Verschuren, P., Doorewaard, H., & Mellion, M. J. (2010). *Designing a Research Project*. Zaltbommel, Nederland: Van Haren Publishing.

Verschuren, P., & Doorewaard, H. (2015). *Het ontwerpen van een onderzoek* (5de editie). Boom Lemma.

Walo, M., Bull, A., & Breen, H. (1996). Achieving Economic Benefits at Local Events: A Case Study of a Local Sports Event. *Festival Management and Event Tourism*, *4*(3), 95–106. https://doi.org/10.3727/106527096792195353

Wang, C., & Tsai, C. (2014). Managing innovation and creativity in organizations: an empirical study of service industries in Taiwan. *Serv Bus* **8**, 313–335 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11628-013-0201-2

90

West, M. A., & Farr, J. L. (1990). Innovation and creativity at work: Psychological and organizational strategies. John Wiley & Sons.

Westland, J. (2007). The Project Management Life Cycle. London: Kogan Page.

Widmar, C. (1993). Role conflict, role ambiguity, and role overload on boards of directors of nonprofit human service organizations. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 22(4), 339-356.doi: 10.1177/0899764093224006

Wilkinson, S. (1998). Focus group methodology: a review. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 1:3, 181-203, DOI: 10.1080/13645579.1998.10846874

Williams, C. (2007). Research Methods. Journal of Business & Economics Research (JBER), 5(3). https://doi.org/10.19030/jber.v5i3.2532

Yuan, F., & Woodman, R. W. (2010). Innovative behavior in the workplace: The role of performance and image outcome expectations. *Academy of Management Journal*, 53: 323-342